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Important information about Syndicate Reports and Accounts  

Access to this document is restricted to persons who have given the certification set forth below. 

If this document has been forwarded to you and you have not been asked to give the certification, 

please be aware that you are only permitted to access it if you are able to give the certification.  

The syndicate reports and accounts set forth in this section of the Lloyd’s website, which have 

been filed with Lloyd’s in accordance with the Syndicate Accounting Byelaw (No. 8 of 2005), are 

being provided for informational purposes only. The syndicate reports and accounts have not 

been prepared by Lloyd’s, and Lloyd’s has no responsibility for their accuracy or content. Access 

to the syndicate reports and accounts is not being provided for the purposes of soliciting 

membership in Lloyd’s or membership on any syndicate of Lloyd’s, and no offer to join Lloyd’s 

or any syndicate is being made hereby. Members of Lloyd’s are reminded that past performance 

of a syndicate in any syndicate year is not predictive of the related syndicate’s performance in 

any subsequent syndicate year.  

You acknowledge and agree to the foregoing as a condition of your accessing the syndicate 

reports and accounts. You also agree that you will not provide any person with a copy of any 

syndicate report and accounts without also providing them with a copy of this acknowledgment 

and agreement, by which they will also be bound. 
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2021 Highlights 

I am pleased to report another set of strong results for Chubb Underwriting Agencies Limited (“CUAL”) and Syndicate 2488 (“the 

syndicate”) for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

2021 was another rollercoaster of a year and presented us with continuing uncertainty throughout. The emergence of new 

COVID-19 variants that quickly spread across the globe sparked a race to roll out vaccines and resulted in more restrictions being 

put in place to protect our communities. We moved from a predominantly work from home environment to a gradual return to 

office-based working and back as restrictions were reintroduced across the country. But as a business we rose to these 

circumstances, never compromising on our ambitions or expectations, and continuing to service our clients and partners while 

ensuring our people were well-supported in the challenges they faced. 

We were able to grow our business once again this year, successfully executing our strategies against a backdrop of favourable 

market conditions, and reported a healthy underwriting profit despite more natural catastrophe losses.  

New business submissions are returning to pre-pandemic levels as clients recognise CUAL’s qualities, brand and reputation, and 

our ability to deliver superior service at all times. Rate increases were seen across a broad range of business classes in 2021 and 

although the hard market is now showing signs of abatement, price adequacy remains generally strong with rates continuing to 

exceed loss costs in most areas. Syndicate 2488 also maintained its “light touch” Lloyd’s regulatory status, reflective of our 

performance and effective planning. 

Financial Performance 

Syndicate 2488 underwrote £561.3 million of gross written premium in the year, an increase of 6% on the £528.3 million 

reported at year end 2020, with growth primarily driven by the improvement in market conditions referenced above and strong 

execution of our underwriting strategies, service capabilities and distribution initiatives. Net written premiums for the year 

increased by 11%, rising to £465.9 million from £420.6 million the previous year. 

The syndicate reported underwriting profits of £49.9 million and an associated combined ratio of 88.8%. The results benefited 

from prior period reserve releases of £6.8 million. Net catastrophe related losses, primarily relating to Hurricane Ida and winter 

storms in the US and including COVID-19 losses, amounted to £48.5 million, higher than average but well within with the 

syndicate’s risk tolerances. 

Net investment returns were £16.8 million, significantly lower than the previous calendar year as a result of negative returns for 

investment grade bonds which were mitigated by positive returns from the syndicate’s alternative investment assets. Reported 

profits for the year were £58.5 million.  

Looking Ahead 

In this increasingly digital age, new technologies are leading to more and more innovative and efficient ways of doing business. 

The Lloyd’s Market is a unique place in which to operate, that brings with it its own unique opportunities and challenges. The 

recent launch of Blueprint Two’s 2nd Edition recognises how much the world has changed in the past year or two and brings into 

focus the corporation’s plans for a streamlined, digital and easily-accessible market place – plans that we fully support. CUAL is 

also investing in technology to improve the syndicate’s digital capabilities and to further simplify and standardise our systems and 

processes to help us continue to deliver the best insurance solutions for our clients. 

Rate adequacy and underwriting discipline have always been core attributes of our business strategy. With the hard market now 

starting to show some signs of peaking, we remain confident in our ability to profitably grow our business at this stage of the 

underwriting cycle. 

And finally… 

I want to thank everyone across the organisation for their resilience and collaboration, and for once again demonstrating 

confidence and willingness to get the job done. Every team has contributed to our achievements this year: underwriting, 
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operations, IT, claims, finance, legal & compliance, human resources, risk, marketing & communications and, last but not least, 

our facilities team who have helped to keep us working effectively from home and safe in our offices. 

 I would also like to thank our broker partners for their continued support. Our strong relationships have enabled us to align 

growth initiatives with specific underwriting strategies to build additional revenue and I look forward to increasing our 

engagement with the London Market broker community in the year ahead. 

COVID-19 continues to affect our ability to conduct our lives in a normal fashion but I am excited about 2022. I am confident 

that we can handle each of the opportunities and challenges that the year ahead will present. We have a successful business and 

are viewed as a leader in our chosen segments and markets. As one of the pre-eminent insurers in the Lloyd’s Market, we are in 

an excellent position to deliver on our objectives and meet the targets we have set ourselves in 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

R Q Wilson  

Chief Underwriting Officer and Active Underwriter, Chubb Underwriting Agencies Limited  

2 March 2022 
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The Board of Directors of the syndicate’s managing agent, Chubb Underwriting Agencies Limited (“CUAL”) are pleased to submit 

their report and the audited syndicate annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021.  

This report and accounts are prepared using the annual basis of accounting as required by the Insurance Accounts Directive 

(Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 (“the 2008 Lloyd’s Regulations”) as amended by The Statutory 

Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017 (the “Regulations”). In addition to this statutory requirement, the report 

also addresses other aspects of the syndicate’s business which the Board believes will be of benefit to interested parties.  

Ownership 

Chubb Limited, the ultimate parent of CUAL, is the Swiss-incorporated holding company of the Chubb Group of Companies. 

Chubb Limited and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, collectively the Chubb Group of Companies (“Chubb”) are a global 

insurance and reinsurance organisation. At 31 December 2021, Chubb Limited held total assets of $200.1 billion and shareholders’ 

equity of $59.7 billion. It is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: CB) and is a component of the S&P 500 index. Chubb 

maintains executive offices in Zurich, New York, London, Paris and other locations, and employs approximately 31,000 people 

worldwide. 

Update on the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The world has been dealing with the spread and threat of COVID-19 since the outbreak was first reported in December 2019. 

While the realities and consequences of the pandemic remain ongoing, CUAL has continued to operate as normally as possible, 

minimising any disruption to its activities and maintaining consistent service to its clients and business partners. 

Since the start of the pandemic, the well-being of employees and their families has been a key factor in CUAL’s decision-making 

and it has been rigorous in enforcing stay at home orders and work from home protocols in line with local government and health 

authority advice in every region in which it operates. As the health-related aspects of the pandemic have begun to recede, CUAL 

has taken a phased approach to reopening its offices. The company regularly updates its health and safety protocols, including 

facility maintenance, hygiene protocols and guidance on in-person meetings and travel and communicates this guidance to 

employees. CUAL will continue to actively monitor any new developments and adapt accordingly to maintain a safe working 

environment for all its employees and provide the high levels of service expected by its clients and brokers. 

The syndicate has reported losses directly related to COVID-19, net of reinsurance, amounting to £4.7 million for 2021, which was 

within expectations, significantly below the £28.3 million stated in 2020, with underlying accident year loss statistics across a 

range of classes benefitting from favourable indirect COVID-19 lockdown related impacts. 

Business Overview  

Chubb is the world’s largest publicly traded property and casualty insurer. With operations in 54 countries and territories, Chubb 

provides commercial and personal property and casualty insurance, personal accident and supplemental health insurance, 

reinsurance and life insurance to a diverse group of clients.  

Chubb is defined by its extensive product and service offerings, broad distribution capabilities, direct-to-consumer platform 

partnerships, exceptional financial strength and local operations globally. The company serves multinational corporations, mid-

size and small businesses with property and casualty insurance and risk engineering services; affluent and high net worth 

individuals with substantial assets to protect; individuals purchasing life, personal accident, supplemental health, homeowners, 

automobile and specialty personal insurance coverage; companies and affinity groups providing or offering accident and health 

insurance programs and life insurance to their employees or members; and insurers managing exposures with reinsurance 

coverage. 

Chubb assesses, assumes and manages risk with insight and discipline. It services and pays claims fairly and promptly and offers 

an array of services designed to help clients minimise the chances of a loss and make sure they are prepared and protected. 

Chubb aims to create sustainability for clients and shareholders by focusing on disciplined risk selection, pricing, and terms and 

conditions that appropriately reflect the transfer of risk. 
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Chubb’s core operating insurance companies maintain financial strength ratings of “AA” from Standard & Poor’s and “A++” from 

A.M. Best.  

Syndicate 2488 is a strategically important business within Chubb, allowing the group to access specialist Lloyd’s and London 

market risks. The syndicate offers its clients a broad range of insurance and risk solutions, with policies primarily written under 

the name “Chubb Global Markets” (“CGM”) which capitalises on the distinctiveness and strength of the Chubb brand and 

acknowledges the group’s strong insurance platforms, reputation, skill sets and consistent management philosophy.  

The structure of the syndicate’s operations allows the underwriters formal and informal interaction with their Chubb underwriting 

peers across the world. With longstanding client relationships and multi-line global platforms, Syndicate 2488 enjoys a position 

as a lead insurer in the key lines in which it chooses to compete, with a significant presence in the Lloyd’s market. 

Chubb Global Market’s underwriting products are offered principally through Syndicate 2488 and Chubb European Group SE 

(“CEG”), a French domiciled company which offers a wide range of property, casualty and accident and health insurance and 

reinsurance products to both retail and wholesale markets. Business may also be written through a number of overseas Chubb 

companies. Factors influencing the decision to place business with the syndicate, CEG or an overseas company include licensing 

eligibilities and capitalisation requirements, but predominantly reflect client and broker preference.  

Syndicate 2488 underwrites a diverse portfolio of business organised into product lines including aviation, property, marine, 

political risk and financial lines. The 2021 split of gross written premiums by major product line is illustrated below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Other includes energy, international casualty, environmental liability, terrorism and other non-core lines 

Syndicate 2488 benefits from comprehensive and fully integrated support functions encompassing claims, finance and actuarial, 

risk management, legal and compliance, human resources, operations and IT. Some of the support functions are outsourced to 

specialist third party service providers and some of their services are performed outside of the UK.  

Business Objectives & Strategy  

Syndicate 2488 has market-leading risk expertise, a disciplined approach to underwriting and is fully committed to meeting the 

insurance needs of its clients. It is distinguished by its ability to manage the challenging and constantly changing external 

environment, the clarity of its strategy and the thoroughness of its execution.  

The syndicate’s strategy focuses on an established underwriting ethos that permeates the business. Top line growth is not the 

primary driver for the syndicate and underwriters are fully prepared to shed volume as necessary in order to maintain an 

underwriting profit. Using CUAL’s underwriting skills and targeted marketing strategies, the syndicate aims to generate growth 

in areas where risk-adjusted underwriting margins are favourable and achieve better terms or shrink business where they are not.  
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The syndicate’s product line segmental structure enables underwriters to manage each business class at a detailed level, essential 

for the identification and analysis of the characteristics, challenges and opportunities of each class. Rating adequacy, competition, 

volatility and margins are analysed at a micro level by the underwriting teams with significant input from CUAL’s actuaries and 

management team.  

The syndicate strives to offer superior service levels in all aspects of its operations, particularly claims, and it continues to invest 

in technology to improve its operational efficiency, underwriter support and broker interfaces.  

The syndicate and CUAL are committed to protecting and preserving its assets. It operates a conservative investment strategy and 

has maintained its focus on cash flow management and liquidity to secure its long-term position in the Lloyd’s insurance market.  

Post-Brexit Underwriting Arrangements 

Following the UK’s decision to withdraw from the European Union (“EU”), Syndicate 2488, in common with all syndicates 

operating in the Lloyd’s market, has implemented new processes to enable it to continue underwriting EU-based risks and to 

service EU policies written prior to the withdrawal. 

Since 1 January 2019 the syndicate writes all EU policies via Lloyd’s Insurance Company S.A. (“LIC”), which is a Belgium based 

insurance company wholly owned by Lloyd’s.  

In addition, to ensure that the syndicate can continue to service EU policies written prior to the withdrawal, on 30 December 2020 

it transferred all direct insurance policies (and related liabilities) written prior to 2019 for EU located risks or EU resident 

policyholders and which may have future premium or claims settlements to LIC. The transfer was in accordance with Part VII of 

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and was approved by the English High Court on 25 November 2020. Furthermore, 

on 30 December 2020 the syndicate entered into a 100% quota share reinsurance agreement whereby LIC reinsured all risks on 

the same policies back to the syndicate. 

Investment Strategy 

Syndicate 2488 operates a conservative investment strategy by establishing highly liquid, diversified, high quality portfolios 

managed by expert external managers. Detailed Chubb Group investment guidelines are established for each managed portfolio 

including Chubb customised benchmarks against which manager performance is measured. 

Syndicate 2488 maintains seven active investment grade fixed income portfolios, held in US dollars, sterling, Canadian dollars 

and euro.  The syndicate maintains a US dollar investment grade portfolio, a US dollar high yield portfolio, a private equity fund 

and an equity portfolio in respect of the Funds in Syndicate (“FIS”). In 2021, a new FIS US dollar investment grade portfolio was 

established for collateralized loan obligations, with a maximum allocation of 5% of the total investment portfolio. 

The approximate currency split of the syndicate investment portfolios, including Funds in Syndicate, is US dollars 68%, Euros 

11%, Canadian dollars 12%, Sterling 4% and other currencies 5%.  

During the year, the syndicate continued to maintain diversified actively managed portfolios with exposure to a broad range of 

sectors. No changes to the asset allocation policy were implemented during 2021.  

Presentation of Financial Statements  

The basis of preparation of Syndicate 2488’s annual financial statements is in accordance with the 2008 Lloyd’s Regulations, as 

amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017, and applicable accounting standards in the 

United Kingdom. These financial statements recognise a calendar year profit or loss, driven by net earned premium and net 

incurred losses arising on that net earned premium.  

Managing agents are required to prepare syndicate underwriting accounts, similar to those previously prepared on a three-year 

underwriting basis in respect of any year of account which is being closed by reinsurance to close, unless all the members on the 

closing year agree otherwise. Syndicate 2488 is a fully aligned syndicate, with 100% of the underwriting capital provided by one 

corporate capital vehicle, Chubb Capital 1 Limited. Chubb Capital 1 Limited has agreed to waive its right to receive syndicate 
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underwriting accounts in respect of Syndicate 2488’s closed 2019 year of account and, as such, no information on this basis has 

been provided within this report and annual accounts. 

Key Performance Indicators  

The following financial key performance indicators (“KPIs”) have been deemed relevant to the syndicate business. These KPIs 

are reviewed regularly by the CUAL Board.  

£ million 2021 2020 

Gross premiums written 561.3 528.3 

Net premiums written 465.9 420.6 

Combined ratio % * 88.8% 97.6% 

Profit for financial year 58.5 87.8 

* Ratio of net claims incurred, commission and expenses to net premiums earned, excluding profit / loss on exchange  

Management also uses a variety of other performance indicators, including production volumes, retention ratios, price monitoring, 

loss and expense analyses, and operating metrics in assessing the performance of each of the product lines. All financial results 

are monitored against plan, forecast and prior year on a regular basis.  

CUAL seeks to manage syndicate capacity levels in order to make the most effective use of available capital. The 2022 capacity of 

Syndicate 2488 has been set at £550.0 million (2021: £550.0 million). 

Results & Performance  

Syndicate 2488’s business is principally conducted in US dollars however, for accounting purposes, the financial results are 

presented in sterling. Syndicate 2488’s functional currency is US dollars. Fluctuations in exchange rates during the year can 

therefore impact the comparability of the income statement and balance sheet for the current year with the prior year.  

Syndicate 2488 produced a profit for the 2021 financial year of £58.5 million and a combined ratio of 88.8%. A summary of the 

reported financial results is shown below. 

£ million 2021 2020 

Gross premiums written 561.3 528.3 

Net premiums written 465.9 420.6 

Net premiums earned 445.9 391.7 

Incurred losses 250.9 257.2 

Operating expenses 145.1 125.2 

Underwriting profit 49.9 9.3 

(Loss)/profit on exchange (8.2) 2.4 

Investment return 16.8 76.1 

Profit for financial year 58.5 87.8 

Combined ratio %  88.8% 97.6% 

Rating Environment  

The London insurance market experienced premium rate increases across a broad range of business classes in 2021, although 

there are now signs that the hard market is abating somewhat. The overall rate movement on 2488’s renewal portfolio was circa 

13% with notable increases in Financial Lines, Property, Marine and Energy, however Aviation pricing came under some pressure 

towards the end of the year. 
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Drivers of Underwriting Result  

The 2021 underwriting profit was £49.9 million (2020: £9.3 million) which equates to a combined ratio of 88.8% (2020: 97.6%). 

The underwriting profit benefited from a prior period reserve release of £6.8 million (2020: £31.5 million). The combined ratio 

excluding the prior period reserve releases was 90.3% (2020: 105.7%) and included 1.0% for COVID-19 related losses (2020: 7.2%) 

and 9.8% for other catastrophe events (2020: 12.4%), principally the US winter storms and Hurricane Ida. Syndicate 2488’s 

exposure to large losses is managed by adherence to clear risk management and underwriting guidelines, and the use of 

reinsurance protection and sophisticated modelling and analysis, with reported losses well within risk tolerances.  

The syndicate’s loss ratio excluding prior period reserve movements and catastrophe losses was 46.9% (2020: 53.8%) 

demonstrating the strength of the underlying portfolio. 

Gross written premiums of £561.3 million in 2021 were 6.2% higher than the prior year, or 12.3% greater if the impact of changes 

in foreign exchange rates are eliminated. The growth in 2021 reflects the continued increases in premium rates and new business 

wins, and was strongest in Financial Lines, Marine Cargo and Property classes of business.  

The syndicate purchases reinsurance to mitigate the impact of major events and an undue frequency of smaller losses and seeks 

to limit its loss exposures by purchasing reinsurance up to its maximum line sizes and accumulations. The principal reinsurance 

programmes operated by the syndicate during the year were partly shared with other Chubb companies including CEG. There 

were no major changes to the syndicate’s reinsurance purchasing strategy in 2021.  

Operating expenses constitute acquisition costs, Lloyd’s subscriptions, Central Fund contributions and general administrative 

expenses. CUAL continues to focus on the management of each of these components in line with the growth and needs of the 

business. 

Investment Performance 

Investment grade fixed income returns were negative in 2021 as both sovereign and corporate yields rose. However, returns for 

alternative assets including high yield bonds, bank loans, private loans and equities produced good returns for the full year. 

Overall Syndicate 2488 generated a total return of 1.2% in 2021 (2020: 5.1%) on balances available for investment. For investment 

grade portfolios, total returns of -2.2%, -1.3% and -1.7% were generated for sterling, euro and Canadian dollar portfolios 

respectively (2020: 3.9%, 2.2%, 7.7%). The US dollar investment grade portfolios which comprise over 72% of the investment 

grade bonds generated a total return of -0.9% in the year (2020: 4.9%). 

Syndicate 2488’s alternative investment assets, constituting around 28% of the total portfolio, are comprised of US dollar upper 

tier high yield bonds (14%), the Oak Hill Advisors private equity fund (7%) and a global equity portfolio managed by Wellington 

Management Company (7%). The high yield portfolio generated strong returns of 3.7%, the Oak Hill Advisors fund 6.6% and the 

equity portfolio 19.1% for the year. 

Cash Flow  

Total syndicate cash flow derived from operating activities in the year was positive.  The distribution of the 2018 year of account 

profits was made in 2021. 

Capital  

A syndicate’s capital requirements are determined through the submission and agreement by Lloyd’s of a Solvency Capital 

Requirement (“SCR”) adjusted by Lloyd’s through the application of a market wide uplift of 35%. The uplifted SCR is referred to 

as the Lloyd’s Economic Capital Assessment (“ECA”).  

The Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) conducts reviews directly with Lloyd’s on the overall SCR for the Lloyd’s Market 

rather than at a syndicate level. Under the governance processes surrounding the Lloyd’s internal model, the syndicate is obligated 

to ensure compliance with Lloyd’s requirements for the internal model tests and standards, and processes are in place to meet 

these obligations. 
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In order to determine the SCR, the syndicate assesses its risk profile and capital requirements using an internal model which has 

been developed to meet Solvency II requirements. The internal model is supported by a robust validation and governance 

framework which ensures its ongoing appropriateness and is refined to reflect the syndicate’s experience, changes in the risk 

profile and advances in modelling methodologies. For 2022, the SCR shows an increase compared with the 2021 requirement, but 

this is largely offset by favourable exchange rates movements. 

The syndicate maintained capital throughout 2021 in excess of the Lloyd’s ECA.  

Syndicate 2488 meets its Funds at Lloyd’s (“FAL”) requirement by the provision of investments held within the syndicate which 

are designated as Funds in Syndicate. The overall quantum of FAL for 2021 year end increased to £647.4 million (2020: £631.6 

million). 

Ratings  

All active syndicates benefit from the financial strength ratings assigned to the Lloyd’s market by various rating agencies. Lloyd’s 

currently holds financial strength ratings of “A (Excellent)” from A.M. Best, “A+ (Strong)” from Standard & Poor’s, “AA- (Very 

Strong)” from Fitch and “AA-” from Kroll Bond Rating Agency. In view of these robust ratings, together with Chubb’s core 

operating insurance companies’ ratings of “A++” and “AA” from A.M. Best and Standard & Poor’s respectively, it has not been 

considered necessary to obtain an individual rating for the syndicate. 

Governance  

CUAL has a documented corporate governance framework, the purpose of which is to exercise oversight and control over the 

management of its own and the syndicate’s business. 

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) has reserved responsibility for decisions in connection with a number of matters, including 

those of a significant strategic, structural, capital, financial reporting, internal control, risk, contractual, policy or compliance nature. 

During 2021 operational resilience and Environmental, Social & Corporate Governance were added as topics reserved for the Board.  

The Board meets at least four times a year and additionally on other occasions to discharge its responsibilities in respect of these 

and other matters. In 2021 the Board met eight times.  

Membership of the Board is kept under review to ensure that the composition and available expertise remains relevant to the current 

needs of the syndicate. As at the date of this report the Board comprises two independent non-executive directors, one non-executive 

regional Chubb representative and three executive directors. In 2021, Jason Keen, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) left the Board 

and David Furby was appointed CEO in his place, subject to regulatory approval which was received in February 2022. In February 

2022, Robert Wilson was appointed as a Board Director and as Chief Underwriting Officer. CUAL greatly values the contribution of 

its non-executive directors in providing contrasting insights, experience and challenge in the Board’s discussions and the insights 

of the regional Chubb representatives into the wider Chubb Group. Details of the directors, including appointments and resignations 

can be found on page 16.  

Key non-routine Board activity during the year included: i) changes in Executive Management, ii) the suitability of the controls and 

processes that operate for shared reinsurance arrangements, iii) response to the Lloyd’s Cyber review and Cyber exposure and iv) 

ongoing monitoring of the impacts of COVID-19. The Board conducted deep dives on the company’s ceded reinsurance and Chubb’s 

cyber product offering and its cyber and technology practices. It also approved a change to the notional pool limit to enhance the 

efficiency of cash management for the syndicate and changes to the Internal Model Governance Framework and associated 

documentation. 

The Board received regular reports on the status of business results, business and function plans, resourcing, developments in the 

risk and regulatory environments, regulatory compliance, underwriting controls, actuarial and solvency matters. One meeting each 

year is dedicated to the company’s business strategy. An annual effectiveness review was carried out and no material issues were 

identified. 



Managing Agent’s Report 

 
 

Syndicate 2488 11 
 

The Board has delegated a number of matters to committees. Each of the following committees has formal terms of reference and 

matters reserved to it. Each, with the exception of the CUAL Management Committee, includes non-executive directors in its 

membership, and reports to the Board regularly in respect of its remit. 

The Audit & Risk Committee, which was comprised exclusively of non-executive directors, considered and made recommendations 

to the Board on areas including the validation of solvency calculations, reserving, internal controls, financial reporting, 

whistleblowing, actuarial matters and the external audit. In addition, it oversaw and advised the Board on risk exposures, future 

risk strategy, the design and implementation of the risk management framework into the business and on solvency and capital 

matters. It also ensured that business risks and controls were recorded and monitored. David Furby ceased to be a member of the 

Committee in February 2022 when he became an executive director on receipt of regulatory approval for his role as CEO. 

During 2021, the Audit Quality Review Team (“AQRT”) of the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”) conducted a review of PwC’s 

audit of the syndicate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. In January 2022, the AQRT provided their final 

report to the Chairman of the Committee, who discussed it with the audit partner. The report concluded that there were no 

significant findings and the Committee were therefore satisfied as to the quality of the audit. 

This Committee received reports from the compliance, conduct, actuarial and finance functions on a quarterly basis. Other regular 

reporting included updates on the syndicate’s “Own Risk and Solvency Assessment” metrics, which helps to provide an independent 

overview of management’s assessment of risk, including performance against Board approved risk appetites. It also reviewed the 

work supporting compliance with the Lloyd’s Minimum Standards which were applicable throughout 2021 and completion of 

CUAL’s Lloyd’s returns and other regulatory requirements. 

In relation to the external audit process, the Committee monitored the nature and scope of work in the audit of the financial 

statements and other external reporting requirements. The Committee received regular reports from the External Auditor and the 

independent non-executive directors met regularly with the External Auditor without management being present. 

In the case of the internal audit function, the Committee’s role involved agreeing and monitoring, in conjunction with the group 

audit function, the nature and scope of work to be carried out by the internal audit team and the availability of sufficient resources. 

The Committee received regular reports from the Internal Auditor and the independent non-executive directors met regularly with 

the Head of Internal Audit without management being present. 

The Committee’s role was aimed at providing assurance to the Board that the internal control systems, agreed by executive 

management, was appropriate for the prudent management of the business during the year and was operating as designed. At all 

times the Committee members were expected to challenge any aspect of these processes which it considered weak or generally poor 

practice. 

During 2021 the Committee in particular reviewed and came to satisfactory conclusions on: i) the impact of catastrophe events, 

including Hurricane Ida; the modelling of natural and man-made catastrophe risks and the impact of major issue claims on reserves. 

ii) CUAL’s response to the regulatory information requests, for example the Lloyd’s thematic reviews on Exposure Management, 

Inflation and Market Abuse and the FCA’s General Insurance Pricing Pratices Rules. iii) the impacts on the Company of the Lloyd’s 

Insurance Company of Brussels Operating Model, the Lloyd’s new Oversight Model (Project Rio) and the Lloyd’s Toolkit. Other 

areas of focus were the risks associated with leadership changes, resourcing challenges and the implementation of the Company’s 

new Target Operating Model and centralised operating platform (AdvantageGo). 

The CUAL Management Committee comprises executive directors and other members of the senior management team. The primary 

role of the Management Committee is to oversee the day-to-day management of business operations and performance, and to assist 

the Chief Executive Officer in implementing and overseeing operational strategies and decisions determined by the Board. The 

CUAL Management Committee oversees the support function activities, key steering groups and specialist sub-committees. 

The specialist sub-committees include the: finance, capital & credit; reserve; underwriting controls & product oversight; investment; 

internal model steering; delegated authority review; and IT steering committees. These report to the CUAL Management Committee 

to ensure that various aspects of the business are reviewed by a wide senior management group.  

CUAL has a Routine Board Committee. It meets on an ad hoc basis between formal Board meetings to consider authorisation of 

routine activity and its activities are reported at the subsequent quarterly Board meeting. 
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Risk & Control Framework  

The Chubb Group is a global underwriting franchise whose risk management obligation to stakeholders is simple: ensure sufficient 

financial strength over the long term in order to pay policyholder claims while simultaneously building and sustaining shareholder 

value.  

The Chubb Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) strategy helps achieve the goal of building shareholder value by systematically 

identifying, and then monitoring and managing, the various risks to the achievement of corporate business objectives and thereby 

minimising potential disruptions that could otherwise diminish shareholder value or balance sheet strength.  

CUAL has adopted the Chubb Group Enterprise Risk Management Framework (“RMF”), which describes the role of ERM within 

CUAL and how it helps the syndicate achieve its business objectives, meet its corporate obligations and maintain the reputation of 

the Chubb franchise. Chubb’s documented RMF is principles-based and sets out the organisational framework for risk taking, risk 

management, monitoring and governance.  

The RMF adopts a “three lines of defence” model, comprising day-to-day risk management and controls, risk management 

oversight, and independent assurance.  

The RMF identifies the key risks to which each business segment and the syndicate as a whole is exposed, and their resultant impact 

on economic and regulatory capital. This framework employs Solvency II principles to assess risk and manage capital requirements 

to ensure the capital required to support CUAL’s business objectives and to meet the requirements of policyholders and regulators.  

The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the syndicate operates within an established framework of effective systems 

of internal control, including the approval of the overall risk tolerance for the organisation and compliance with policies, procedures, 

internal controls and regulatory requirements.  

The Board’s oversight of the RMF is effected through the various committees and functions with particular purposes and direction 

around the monitoring of risk tolerances and oversight of internal controls and compliance procedures. The risk management 

function has a strong mandate from the Board to promote the RMF and embed it across the syndicate.  

The RMF was re-approved by the Board in 2021 together with a review of individual risk policies and risk appetite statements which 

set out defined risk-tolerance constraints for the execution of the business strategy. All key policies and procedures are subject to 

Board approval and ongoing review by executive management, the risk management function and internal audit function. 

Disclosures regarding risks and capital management are provided in note 3 to the financial statements. With regard to developments 

around the Russia and Ukraine conflict, CUAL employs and monitors risk guidelines to ensure acceptable risk accumulations in the 

syndicate. CUAL does not currently foresee any issues arising as a result of the conflict which would prevent the syndicate from 

satisfying its obligations in a timely manner. 

Compliance  

Compliance with regulation, legal and ethical standards is a high priority for Chubb and CUAL, and the compliance function has 

an important oversight role in this regard. Annual affirmation of the Chubb Code of Conduct is required of all employees and 

directors.  

As a material subsidiary of Chubb Limited, a US listed company, the financial control environment in which the financial 

statements are derived is subject to the requirements of US Sarbanes-Oxley legislation. CUAL has formalised documentation and 

tested controls to enable Chubb Limited to fulfil the requirements of the legislation. 

CUAL is also committed to fulfilling its other compliance-related duties, including its observance of customer-focused policies in 

line with regulatory principles, and it uses various metrics to assess its performance. 

The managing agency utilises a skilled and specialist workforce employed by Chubb Services UK Limited and Chubb European 

Group SE, to manage its regulatory and compliance responsibilities and aims to operate to a high standard. CUAL recognises and 

values its relationships with regulators in each of its jurisdictions and engages in open dialogue and communication to address 

and resolve any issues.  
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Social, Environmental and Employee Matters 

Chubb’s culture is characterised as an inclusive and equitable meritocracy. The company strives to be a responsible employer, 

placing employee engagement at the heart of its business strategy and achieve an environment where all colleagues feel 

comfortable to perform to their full potential and are recognised for their contributions. Chubb has created a workplace built on 

its values, which foster diversity and equal opportunities for all, promote employee participation, encourage professional 

development and support employee well-being. 

The Chubb Code of Conduct 

The Chubb Code of Conduct addresses, among other things, conflicts of interest, corporate opportunities, confidentiality, fair 

dealing, protection and proper use of company assets, compliance with laws and regulations and reporting illegal or unethical 

behavior. All employees, officers and directors of CUAL are expected to acknowledge acceptance of this code confirming that they 

know and understand the standards expected. CUAL expects its business partners such as consultants, agents, third party 

representatives and service providers to also comply with the code. Appropriate measures may be taken if anyone fails to meet 

those standards or contractual obligations. 

Diversity & Inclusion 

Chubb is committed to a diverse and inclusive environment where all staff are treated with dignity, fairness and respect regardless 

of their age, disability, race, religion or belief, gender identity and expression, sexual orientation, marital status or family 

circumstances.  

The Chubb approach is based on three key principles: 

1. Inclusion: creating a working culture and environment where we value the whole person and the experiences they bring to 

work, where everyone has the opportunity to achieve their full potential and develop in a way that is consistent with our 

vision and values. Our aim is to be an organisation where people feel valued, involved, respected, supported and connected 

to the success of the business; 

2. Equality: promoting equality by removing barriers, eliminating discrimination and ensuring equal and fair opportunity 

and access for all; and 

3. Diversity: accepting each person as an individual and respecting and appreciating differences in ethnicity, gender identity 

and expression, age, national origin, disability, sexual orientation, education and religion and the value that these differences 

bring to the workplace every day. 

Chubb’s Diversity & Inclusion (“D&I”) strategy is delivered across the region by the European Head of Diversity & Inclusion with 

the help of the regional Diversity & Inclusion Council of senior representatives. 

With the support of the executive team, Chubb has developed six employee-led networks: ‘Gender Equality Network’, ‘Social 

Mobility’, 'Parents and Carers Network', ‘Abilities & Wellbeing’, ‘Cultural Awareness’ and ‘Pride’. Each network has dedicated 

Executive sponsorship and provides opportunity for employees to collaborate on initiatives that contribute to positive change. 

Talent Strategy  

Chubb’s ability to deliver outstanding business results relies on the calibre of its talent and the efforts of its employees at all levels 

of the organisation. CUAL aims to maintain a mid and long-term talent pipeline to ensure the right quality and quantity of diverse 

talent is available for the company to deliver its key business objectives. 

To this end, CUAL has a talent strategy that actively supports the personal and professional development of all its people. The 

organisation strives to attract, retain and develop employees to meet their career aspirations. A core element of Chubb’s employee 

value proposition is the opportunity to constantly evolve as a professional and reach one’s full potential. It endeavours to identify 

talent on a regular basis and provide high quality development programmes that build the necessary leadership qualities for now 

and the future. Formal succession plans are in place at the senior level to fill open positions internally where appropriate. 

CUAL expects all employees to own and drive their development by availing themselves of the structured and unstructured 

learning on offer. In turn, it will help those employees who are motivated to develop and grow by providing the critical experiences, 
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resources, tools and opportunities to succeed in their career. CUAL supports employees with job-related professional 

qualifications and external development opportunities where appropriate.  It also provides regulatory and technical e-learning to 

new starters and existing employees.   

Environmental Matters  

The Chubb group recognises its responsibility to provide solutions that help clients manage environmental risks, to reduce its own 

environmental impact and to make meaningful contributions to environmental causes. The company endeavours to do its part as 

a steward of the Earth and realises this commitment in a number of ways: 

• Recognising and responding to the reality of climate change across its businesses; 

• Managing environmental risk for its customers with innovative products and risk engineering solutions; 

• Supporting environmental resiliency projects throughout the world; 

• Protecting biodiversity and saving land through its philanthropy; and 

• Reducing the environmental footprint of its own operations. 

Chubb globally is committed to developing insurance products and risk management services that facilitate market-based 

solutions to current and pending environmental and climate-related issues. Chubb’s environmental insurance solutions include 

coverages for premises-based exposures, contractors’ and project pollution liability, renewable energy, clean tech and 

environmental clean-up projects, as well as “green building” consulting services and a property policy that enables greener 

rebuilding after a loss. 

Chubb globally will continue to develop and offer new insurance solutions for low- and zero-emission technologies including a 

suite of coverages through its “Clean Tech” industry insurance programme for clients deriving energy from renewable sources, 

focused on energy efficiency, or addressing the scarcity of resources. 

In 2019 Chubb adopted a policy concerning thermal coal-related underwriting and investment and committed to not make new 

debt or equity investments in companies that generate more than 30% of revenues from thermal coal mining or energy production 

from coal. In addition, Chubb globally no longer underwrites the construction and operation of new coal-fired plants or new risks 

for companies that generate more than 30% of their revenues from coal mining or energy production from coal. Insurance 

coverage for existing coal plant risks that exceed this threshold will be phased out by 2022, and for utilities beginning in 2022. 

In addition, Syndicate 2488 now complies with guidelines issued by Lloyd’s for environmental underwriting and investing. In 

accordance with these guidelines the syndicate will not make new investment purchases in securities issued by companies engaged 

in thermal coal extraction or power generation, tar (oil) sands and Artic energy extraction and by the end of 2025, any existing 

investments in these companies will be divested. Lloyd’s guidelines also discourage the syndicate from underwriting new policies 

for companies engaged in thermal coal extraction or power generation, tar (oil) sands and Artic energy extraction and any existing 

coverages will be non-renewed by 2030. 

Chubb globally will seek to encourage the global transition to a net zero economy through its decisions on specific underwriting 

risks. The company continues to assess its coverage of carbon-intensive industries and their related strategies and plans for 

transitioning to a lower-carbon economy. This approach will ensure the company’s underwriting and investment positions evolve 

as practical alternatives become available. 

Chubb is committed to managing and reducing greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions throughout its operations. In 2019, before the 

pandemic, Chubb had achieved its group-wide goal to reduce global GHG emissions on an absolute basis by 20% from a 2016 

baseline. The group continues to pursue its long-term goal to reduce its absolute GHG emissions 40% by 2035 and supports the 

global transition to a net zero economy by 2050. In 2021, Chubb globally set a new goal to achieve carbon neutrality in its own 

global operations (Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions) by year end 2022. This complements Chubb’s GHG reduction goals and will be 

achieved through a combination of renewable energy and carbon offset purchases. 

Chubb Limited produces an annual Environmental Report which outlines the full scope of the group’s environmental programme 

and initiatives. It reports to the CDP (Carbon Disclosure Project) , an international, not-for-profit organisation providing the only 

global system for companies and cities to measure, disclose, manage and share vital environmental information on an annual basis, 

disclosing climate change risks and opportunities as well as emissions performance. In 2021, the company earned a score of “B” 
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on the CDP’s climate change program ranking. A third-party certified environmental statement on Chubb’s GHG emissions 

programme is also included in the Chubb Limited annual report.  

Chubb Limited is a member of ClimateWise, an independent network of insurers, reinsurers, brokers and insurance industry 

service providers facilitated by the University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership. Chubb discloses its global 

actions to ClimateWise annually based on the ClimateWise principles of direct consumption. This independent review enables 

Chubb to assess its influence on those it interacts with, from brokers and clients to government agencies and regulators, whilst 

also comparing its actions against other leaders in the industry. 

Chubb Limited is also a member of the United Nations Global Compact, the largest corporate sustainability project in the world. 

Chubb has formally committed to making the Compact’s environmental principles part of its culture and day-to-day operations. 

Chubb is also a member of the Geneva Association, an international insurance think tank representing 90 global insurance 

organisations. Chubb has confirmed its commitment to the Geneva Association’s Climate Risk Statement, a set of guiding 

principles on the substantial role insurance can play in global efforts to tackle climate-related risks. In 2021, Chubb formally 

adopted the Task Force on Climate–related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) reporting framework. 

Citizenship & Charitable Giving 

The Chubb Charitable Foundation believes that meaningful contributions that support communities globally provide lasting 

benefits to society, to Chubb and to Chubb employees. Chubb supports a wide range of activities that benefit the community 

through the global Chubb Foundation, predominantly in the areas of education, poverty, health and the environment.  

‘Charity at Chubb’ is Chubb’s European charity committee with a remit to make the best, most relevant charitable impact aligned 

to Chubb’s wider corporate & social responsibility and diversity & inclusion strategies. Employees also participate in a number of 

local voluntary community schemes and personal fundraising efforts which the company supports through a charitable 

contribution scheme. 

In 2021, Charity at Chubb focused on championing and encouraging activities under the pillars of: Community & Employee 

Engagement; Social Mobility; Wellbeing & Disability Confidence; and Education & Youth, although there was also a broader 

remit to augment employee fundraising and support a range of charities and communities across the region. 

Guarding against Financial Crime  

Chubb recognises the importance of the effective management of financial crime risk in terms of its obligations to its customers, 

the expectations of its regulators and long term financial stability. The management of financial crime risk is fully integrated into 

Chubb’s wider Risk Management Framework. The Financial Crime Framework is comprised of Board policies and procedures and 

sets out the company’s approach to the management of financial crime risk and is underpinned by the Chubb Code of Conduct.  

The Financial Crime Framework sets out Chubb’s approach to managing financial crime risk, including the governance 

procedures, how financial crime risk is assessed, the control framework in place, and oversight procedures. 

Financial crime policies and explanatory guidance notes relating to financial crime are in place, are appropriately detailed and 

take into account the nature and complexity of Chubb’s activities. All business lines are required to implement appropriate risk 

based procedures and controls at each stage of the insurance transaction to mitigate financial crime risk exposure and to ensure 

compliance with the agreed standards. 

Detailed and regular financial crime reports are provided that enable Senior Management, the Audit & Risk Committee and the 

Board to understand the financial crime risks to which CUAL is exposed. This enables the managing agent to manage financial 

crime risk in accordance with Chubb’s risk appetite, and to ensure that controls operate effectively. 

Financial crime training including sanctions restrictions, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering is provided for all new starters 

and risk based training, tailored to specific roles is provided regularly thereafter. Chubb’s training has a strong practical 

dimension, including case studies and knowledge testing. Training material is reviewed periodically to ensure consistency and 

effectiveness and is updated when required to ensure that it is relevant and up to date. 
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Human Rights 

Chubb conducts its business in a manner that respects the human rights and dignity of all, and supports international efforts to 

promote and protect human rights. Chubb does not tolerate abuse of human rights in a Chubb workplace or in the course of its 

business. Chubb aims to comply with legal and regulatory requirements everywhere it conducts business and to embed the values 

in the Chubb Code of Conduct in its activities which affirms its commitment to compliance with equal employment opportunity 

laws and other applicable civil rights, human rights and labour laws.  

Chubb policies, frameworks and actions, which aim to prevent modern slavery and human trafficking in its business and supply 

lines include: 

• Attestation to the Chubb Code of Conduct; 

• Undertaking employment verification checks as part of the hiring process where allowed by local legislation; 

• Requiring agencies who supply workers to carry out employment verification checks, wherever staff are located where allowed 

by local legislation; 

• Procurement agreements require third party suppliers to comply with applicable laws and regulations and permit Chubb to 

terminate relationships where they fail to do so; 

• Subjecting key business transactions to both on boarding and periodic regulatory screening; 

• Providing training and support for all staff on how and where they can raise concerns about wrongdoing and assurances that 

they will not suffer reprisals for doing so; and 

• Taking appropriate action where potential issues are identified. 

Chubb supports the United Nations Global Compact (“the Compact”), the world’s largest corporate sustainability initiative. The 

company is committed to aligning business operations with the Compact’s 10 principles, which address human rights, labour, the 

environment and anti-corruption. 

Chubb has policies, procedures and training materials to make its commitment to anti-slavery and human trafficking explicit to 

customers, employees, suppliers and business partners. In 2019 Chubb enhanced its framework for the management of its third 

parties by launching a new risk assessment tool and control standards. This was followed by training to business managers and 

support staff in 2020. Furthermore, Chubb’s General Data Protection Regulations communications make reference to the continued 

expectation that third-party vendors must abide by modern slavery and human trafficking legislation. 

Chubb’s Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Transparency statement has been published on the Chubb website. 

Directors  

The following have been directors of the managing agent from 1 January 2021 to the date of this report unless otherwise indicated:  

Executive directors:  

J W Keen   Resigned 28 June 2021, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Underwriting Officer  

C P J O’Brien   

D M A Furby  Chief Executive Officer with effect from 24 February 2022, previously a non-executive director 

R Q Wilson  Appointed 2 February 2022, Chief Underwriting Officer  

Non-executive directors:  

M A Connole  

J A Turner   Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director 

T C Wade  Independent Non-Executive Director 

Qualifying third-party indemnity provisions (as defined by section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) are in place for the benefit of 

the directors and, at the date of this report, are in in force in relation to certain losses and liabilities which they may incur (or have 

incurred) in connection with their duties, powers or office.  

The managing agent also has the benefit of a group insurance company management activities policy effected by Chubb Limited 

(CUAL’s ultimate holding company). No charge was made to CUAL during the year for this policy.  
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Directors’ Participations  

None of the directors participates on the syndicate on a bespoke basis. Certain directors participate indirectly on the syndicate by 

virtue of their interests in the stock of Chubb Limited.  

Statement of Managing Agent’s Responsibilities  

The managing agent is required by the Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 

2008, as amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017 (the “Regulations”), to prepare 

syndicate annual accounts for Syndicate 2488 for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

syndicate and of its profit or loss for that year.  

In preparing these syndicate annual accounts the managing agent is required to:  

i) select suitable accounting policies which are applied consistently with the exception of changes arising on the adoption of 

new accounting standards in the year;  

ii)   make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

iii)  state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the syndicate annual accounts; and  

iv)  prepare the syndicate annual accounts on the basis that the syndicate will continue to write future business unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that the syndicate will do so.  

The directors of the managing agent confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the syndicate 

annual accounts.  

The managing agent is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the syndicate’s 

transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the syndicate and enable it to ensure that 

the syndicate annual accounts comply with the Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) 

Regulations 2008. The managing agent is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the syndicate and hence for taking 

reasonable steps to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.  

Legislation in the UK concerning the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.  

Statement as to Disclosure of Information to Auditors  

Each of the persons who is a director of the managing agent at the date of this report confirms that:  

i)  So far as he/she is aware, there is no information relevant to the audit of the syndicate’s annual accounts for the year ended 

31 December 2021 of which the auditors are unaware; and  

ii)  The director has taken all steps that he/she ought to have taken in his/her duty as a director in order to make him/herself 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the syndicate’s auditors are aware of that information.  
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Independent Auditors  

The 2008 Lloyd’s Regulations, as amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017 (the 

“Regulations”) require that the auditors of the syndicate annual accounts be appointed by the members of the syndicate, initially 

for the syndicate annual accounts for the 2009 year end after which provisions for deemed reappointment of auditors will apply. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is deemed to have been reappointed as the auditors of the syndicate annual accounts for the 2021 

year end.  

On 10th December 2001, Lloyd’s granted consent to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP continuing to act as syndicate auditors for 

Syndicate 2488 (for the 2002 and previous years of account) and as corporate auditors for CUAL and other Chubb group 

companies (for the 2002 financial year). This consent was, in effect, an extension of the consent granted previously in relation to 

the 2001 and prior years of account and has been further extended without time limit.  

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf: 

 

 

C P J O’Brien 

Director 

2 March 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF 
SYNDICATE 2488 
 

Report on the audit of the syndicate annual accounts 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion, 2488’s syndicate annual accounts: 

● give a true and fair view of the state of the syndicate’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of its profit and cash flows for the 

year then ended; 

● have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, 

and applicable law); and 
● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and 

Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008.  

 

We have audited the syndicate annual accounts included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual 

Report”), which comprise: the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021; the Income Statement, the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Cash Flows, and the Statement of Members’ Balances for the year then ended; and the 

notes to the syndicate annual accounts, which include a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), and The Insurance Accounts 

Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 and other applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs 

(UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the syndicate annual accounts section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Independence 
We remained independent of the syndicate in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

syndicate annual accounts in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to other entities of public interest, 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not 

provided. 

Other than those disclosed in note 6, we have provided no non-audit services to the syndicate in the period under audit. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the syndicate’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at 

least twelve months from when the syndicate annual accounts are authorised for issue. 

In auditing the syndicate annual accounts, we have concluded that the Managing Agent’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the syndicate annual accounts is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the syndicate's 

ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Managing Agent with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 

sections of this report. 
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Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the syndicate annual accounts and our 

auditors’ report thereon. The Managing Agent is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the syndicate annual 

accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent 

otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the syndicate annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the syndicate annual accounts or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material 

misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the syndicate annual 

accounts or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 

a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these 

responsibilities. 

With respect to the Managing Agent’s Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by The Insurance Accounts 

Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 have been included. 

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate 

Accounts) Regulations 2008 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Managing Agent’s Report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Managing Agent’s Report 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 is consistent with the syndicate annual accounts and has been prepared in accordance with 

applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the syndicate and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not 

identify any material misstatements in the Managing Agent’s Report.  

Responsibilities for the syndicate annual accounts and the audit 

Responsibilities of the Managing Agent for the syndicate annual accounts 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Managing Agent’s Responsibilities, the Managing Agent is responsible for the 

preparation of the syndicate annual accounts in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a 

true and fair view. The Managing Agent is also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of syndicate annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the syndicate annual accounts, the Managing Agent is responsible for assessing the syndicate’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

it is intended for the syndicate to cease operations, or it has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the syndicate annual accounts 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the syndicate annual accounts as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these syndicate 

annual accounts. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 

responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which 

our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the syndicate and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and 

regulations related to breaches of UK and European regulatory principles, such as those governed by the Prudential Regulation 

Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority, and those regulations set by the Council of Lloyd’s, and we considered the extent 

to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the syndicate annual accounts. We also considered those laws and 

regulations that have a direct impact on the syndicate annual accounts such as The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s 
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Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent 

manipulation of the syndicate annual accounts (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks 

were related to management bias in accounting estimates and judgemental areas, including the valuation of claim reserves and 

estimated premium income, and the posting of inappropriate journals. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team 

included: 

● Discussions with senior management involved in the Legal and Internal Audit functions, including consideration of known or 

suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud; 

● Assessment of any matters reported on the managing agent’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s 

investigation of such matters; 

● Reading key correspondence with Lloyd’s, the Prudential Regulation Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority in relation 

to compliance with laws and regulations; 

● Reviewing relevant meeting minutes including those of the Audit and Risk Committee; 

● Testing journal entries identified in accordance with our risk assessment; 

● Challenging assumptions made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular, in relation to the 

valuation of incurred but not reported claims and estimates within gross premiums written; and 

● Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent of our testing.      

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-

compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the syndicate annual 

accounts. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through 

collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the syndicate annual accounts is located on the FRC’s website at: 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the syndicate’s member in accordance with part 2 of The 

Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 and for no other purpose. We do not, 

in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown 

or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
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Other required reporting 

Under The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 we are required to report 

to you if, in our opinion: 

● we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or  

● adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Managing Agent in respect of the syndicate; or 

● certain disclosures of Managing Agent remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

● the syndicate annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.  

 
 
 
 
         
Siobhan Byrne (Senior statutory auditor)      

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London 

2 March 2022
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  2021 2020 

Technical account – general business Notes £000 £000 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance    

Gross premiums written 4 561,297 528,252 

Outwards reinsurance premiums  (95,426) (107,682) 

Net premiums written  465,871 420,570 

Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums  (21,013) (29,113) 

Change in the provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers’ share  1,056 240 

Change in unearned premiums, net of reinsurance  (19,957) (28,873) 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance  445,914 391,697 

Allocated investment return transferred from the non-
technical account 

 

8 

 

(10,157) 

 

36,644 

Total technical income  435,757 428,341 

    

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance    

Claims paid, gross amount 4 (295,475) (301,118) 

Claims paid, reinsurers’ share  85,673 59,164 

Net claims paid  (209,802) (241,954) 

Change in the provision for claims, gross amount 4 (16,351) (83,064) 

Change in the provision for claims, reinsurers’ share  (24,781) 67,772 

Change in the provision for claims, net of reinsurance  (41,132) (15,292) 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance  (250,934) (257,246) 

Net operating expenses 6 (145,036) (125,138) 

Total technical charges  (395,970) (382,384) 

    

Balance on the general business technical account  39,787 45,957 

 
 
The notes on pages 29 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  2021 2020 

Non-technical account Notes £000 £000 

Balance on the general business technical account  39,787 45,957 

    

Investment return    

Investment income 8 50,084 61,601 

Unrealised gains on investments 8 27,275 102,136 

Investment expenses and charges 8 (3,742) (12,945) 

Unrealised losses on investments 8 (56,863) (74,676) 

Allocated investment loss / (return) transferred to general 
business technical account 

 

8 

 

10,157 

 

(36,644) 

Investment return 8 26,911 39,472 

    

(Loss) / Profit on exchange  (8,220) 2,388 

Profit for the financial year  58,479 87,817 

 

The above results are all derived from continuing operations. 

 

   

The notes on pages 29 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

  2021 2020 

  £000 £000 

Profit for the financial year  58,479 87,817 

    

Currency translation differences  6,540 (12,432) 

    

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  65,019 75,385 
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  2021 2020 

Assets Notes £000 £000 

Investments    

Other financial investments 9 1,456,956 1,463,990 

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions    

Provision for unearned premiums 16             56,329              54,225 

Claims outstanding 16 285,626 307,707 

  341,955 361,932 

Debtors – amounts falling due within one year    

Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations  74,002 62,115 

Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations  62,189 66,848 

Other debtors 10 3,527 447 

  139,718 129,410 

Other assets    

Cash at bank and in hand 12 177,947 106,581 

Deposits with ceding undertakings  3,437 - 

  181,384 106,581 

Prepayments and accrued income    

Deferred acquisition costs 16 62,434 55,169 

Other prepayments and accrued income  8,529 9,209 

  70,963 64,378 

    

Total assets  2,190,976 2,126,291 

 

The notes on pages 29 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  2021 2020 

Liabilities Notes £000 £000 

Capital and reserves    

Members’ balances  622,749 631,716 

Technical provisions    

Provision for unearned premiums 16 270,920 245,182 

Claims outstanding 16 1,066,639 1,044,492 

  1,337,559 1,289,674 

    

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year    

Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations 

Bank loans and overdrafts 

 

12 

60,619 

130,296 

60,658 

101,429 

Other creditors including taxation and social security  24,218 29,000 

  215,133 191,087 

Accruals and deferred income  15,535 13,814 

    

Total liabilities  2,190,976 2,126,291 

 

The notes on pages 29 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The syndicate annual accounts on pages 29 to 54 were approved by the board of Chubb Underwriting Agencies Ltd on the 2 March 

2022 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

C P J O’Brien 

Director  

2 March 2022
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Members’ 
Balances 

 £000 

 

At 1 January 2020 

 

608,750 

 

Profit for the financial year 

 

87,817 

  

Net transfer out of members’ balances designated as Funds in Syndicate (20,636) 

  

Profit distribution (32,656) 

  

Other 873 

  

Currency translation differences (12,432) 

 

At 31 December 2020 

 

631,716 

  

Profit for the financial year 58,479 

  

Net transfer out of members’ balances designated as Funds in Syndicate (13,256) 

 

Profit distribution (58,588) 

  

Other (2,142) 

  

Currency translation differences 6,540 

At 31 December 2021 622,749 
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  2021 2020 

 Notes £000 £000 

Operating profit  58,479 87,817 

Increase in gross technical provisions 

Decrease/ (increase) in reinsurers’ share of gross technical provisions 

(Increase) / decrease in debtors 

Decrease in creditors 

Investment return 

Other 

 47,885 

19,977 

(16,892) 

(3,099) 

(16,755) 

(25,832) 

104,997 

(62,725) 

28,404 

(20,225) 

(76,116) 

(6,256) 

Net cash inflows from operating activities  63,763 55,896 

    

Investing activities    

Investment income received  46,342 48,655 

Purchase of debt and equity investments  (511,065) (443,433) 

Sale of debt and equity investment 

Other 

 453,172 

25,541 

450,565 

(23,137) 

Net cash inflows from investing activities  13,990 32,650 

    

Financing activities    

Transfers to members in respect of underwriting participations  (58,588) (32,656) 

Profits added to funds in syndicate  - 32,304 

FIS released to member  (13,256) (52,940) 

Net cash outflows from financing activities  (71,844) (53,292) 

    

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  5,909 35,254 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  56,894 27,607 

Exchange differences on opening cash  15,283 (5,967) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 78,086 56,894 

    

Cash at bank and in hand 12 177,947 106,581 

Short-term deposits with credit institutions 12 30,435 51,742 

Overdraft 12 (130,296) (101,429) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 78,086 56,894 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The syndicate annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom, 

including Financial Reporting Standard FRS 102, “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the 

Republic of Ireland”  (“FRS 102”) and Financial Reporting Standard, “Insurance Contracts” (“FRS 103”) and the provisions of 

Schedule 3 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (“SI2008/410”), 

Regulation 5 of the Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 (“the 2008 

Lloyd’s Regulations”), as amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017 (the “Regulations”). 

These annual accounts include all sources of capital supporting the operations of the syndicate. Given that Syndicate 2488 is a 

fully aligned syndicate, with 100% of the underwriting capacity provided by Chubb corporate capital vehicles, these accounts are 

able to disclose the total Funds at Lloyd’s (“FAL”) capital supporting the operations of the syndicate (see note 14). 

These annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.  The principal accounting policies, which are set out below, 

have been applied consistently to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. 

Syndicate 2488’s functional currency is US dollars. The presentational currency is sterling which is common practice in the Lloyd’s 

market and aids comparability. 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors of the managing agent have made judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of the syndicate’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. 

The measurement of the provision for claims outstanding involves judgements and assumptions about the future that have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The provision for claims outstanding comprises the 

estimated cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the balance sheet date, whether reported or not. This is a judgemental 

and complex area due to the subjectivity inherent in estimating the impact of claims events that have occurred but for which the 

eventual outcome remains uncertain. In particular, judgement is applied when estimating the value of amounts that should be 

provided for claims that have been incurred at the reporting date but have not yet been reported (“IBNR”) to the syndicate. 

The amount included in respect of IBNR is based on statistical techniques of estimation applied by the in-house actuaries and 

reviewed by external consulting actuaries. These techniques generally involve projecting from past experience the development of 

claims over time in view of the likely ultimate claims to be experienced and for more recent underwriting, having regard to 

variations in business accepted and the underlying terms and conditions. The provision for claims also includes amounts in respect 

of internal and external claims handling costs. For the most recent years, where a high degree of volatility arises from projections, 

estimates may be based in part on output from rating and other models of business accepted and assessments of underwriting 

conditions. 

The gross written premium is initially based on estimated premium income (EPI) for each contract. EPI estimates are based on 

information provided by the brokers, policyholders, coverholders, past underwriting experience and the contractual terms of the 

policy. The EPI estimates are reviewed on a regular basis. Premiums in respect of insurance contracts underwritten under binding 

authorities are booked as the underlying contracts incept (a straight-line basis is selected for this inception pattern). Premiums 

are earned on a straight-line basis over the life of each contract. At a portfolio level this is considered to provide a reasonable 

estimate for the full year of the pattern of risk over the coverage period. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES – continued 

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are as follows: 

Premiums written 

Premiums written, which are stated gross of brokerage but exclusive of premium taxes, relate to: 

a) business incepted during the year, together with adjustments made in the year to premiums written in prior accounting 

periods. Estimates are made of pipeline premiums, representing amounts due but not yet received or notified to the 

syndicate by intermediaries; 

b) payments made to Lloyd’s Insurance Company S.A. (“LIC”) on 30 December 2020 for the transfer of all direct insurance 

policies (and related liabilities) written prior to 2019 for EU located risks or EU resident policyholders and which may 

have future premium or claims settlements, in accordance with Part VII of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; 

and 

c) reinsurance premium received from LIC on 30 December 2020 in return for the 100% quota share reinsurance 

agreement written by the syndicate and covering the liabilities transferred to LIC under the transaction referred to in b) 

above. 

The payments made to LIC and the reinsurance premium received from LIC are closely linked transactions and were intended to 

have a neutral impact on the 2020 year end income statement, hence both transactions are recorded as premiums written. 

Unearned premiums 

Unearned premiums represent the proportion of premiums written in the year that relate to unexpired terms of policies in force 

at the balance sheet date, calculated on the basis of established risk profiles or time apportionment as appropriate. 

Acquisition costs 

Acquisition costs comprise brokerage, commissions and other related costs, and are deferred over the period in which the related 

premiums are earned. 

Claims incurred 

Claims incurred comprise the estimated cost of all claims occurring during the year, whether reported or not, including related 

direct and indirect expenses and adjustments to claims outstanding from previous years. Where applicable, deductions are made 

for reinsurance, salvage and other recoveries. 

Provision for claims outstanding and related reinsurance recoveries 

The provision for claims outstanding is assessed on an individual case basis and is based on the estimated ultimate cost of all 

claims notified but not settled by the balance sheet date, together with the provision for related claims handling costs and 

deduction for expected salvage and other recoveries. The provision also includes the estimated cost of claims incurred but not 

reported (“IBNR”) at the balance sheet date based on statistical methods.   

These methods generally involve projecting from past experience of the development of claims over time to form a view of the 

likely ultimate claims to be experienced for more recent underwriting, having regard to variations in the business accepted and 

the underlying terms and conditions. For the most recent years, where a high degree of volatility arises from projections, estimates 

may be based in part on output from rating and other models of the business accepted and assessments of underwriting conditions. 

The amount of salvage and subrogation recoveries is separately identified and where material reported as an asset.   

The reinsurers’ share of the provision for claims outstanding is based on the amounts of outstanding claims and projections for 

IBNR, net of estimated irrecoverable amounts, having regard to the reinsurance programme in place for the class of business, the 

claims experience for the year and the current security rating of the reinsurance companies involved.  A number of statistical 

methods are used to assist in making these estimates. 
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2.      SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES – continued 

The two most critical assumptions as regards the provision for claims outstanding are that the past is a reasonable predictor of 

the likely level of claims development and that the rating and other models used for current business are fair reflections of the 

likely level of ultimate claims to be incurred.   

The directors consider that the provision for gross claims outstanding and related reinsurance recoveries are fairly stated on the 

basis of the information currently available to them. However, the ultimate liability will vary as a result of subsequent information 

and events and this may result in significant adjustments to the amounts provided. Adjustments to the amounts of claims 

provisions established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements for the period in which the adjustments are made.  

The methods used, and the estimates made, are reviewed regularly. When calculating the provision for claims outstanding, the 

reported business segments are subject to specific issues, as set out below: 

Fire and other damage to property; marine, aviation and transport; accident and health 

These business segments are predominantly “short tail”; that is there is not a significant delay between the occurrence of the claim 

and the claim being reported to the syndicate.  The costs of claims notified to the syndicate at the balance sheet date are estimated 

on a case by case basis to reflect the individual circumstances of each claim.  The ultimate expected cost of claims is projected from 

this data by reference to statistics, which show how estimates of claims incurred in previous periods have developed over time to 

reflect changes in the underlying estimates of the cost of notified claims and late notifications. 

Third party liability (including marine and aviation liability) 

Liability claims are longer tail than the classes of business described above and so a larger element of the provision for claims 

outstanding relates to IBNR.  Claims estimates for the syndicate’s liability business are derived from a combination of loss ratio 

based estimates and an estimate based upon actual claims experience using a predetermined formula whereby greater weight is 

given to actual claims experience as time passes.  The initial estimate of the loss ratio based on the experience of previous years 

adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes and claims inflation, and on the anticipated market experience, is an important 

assumption in this estimation technique.  In respect of liability claims, the assessment of claims inflation and anticipated market 

experience is particularly sensitive to the level of court awards and to the development of legal precedent on matters of contract 

and tort.  The liability class of business is also subject to the emergence of new types of latent claims but no allowance is included 

for this as at the balance sheet date. 

Reinsurance acceptances 

This business segment includes both short tail and longer tail business, and is subject to the issues laid out in the preceding two 

sections. 

Unexpired risks provision 

A provision for unexpired risks is made where claims and related expenses arising after the end of the financial period in respect 

of contracts concluded before that date, are expected to exceed the unearned premiums and premiums receivable under these 

contracts, after the deduction of any acquisition costs deferred.  The provision for unexpired risks is calculated by reference to 

classes of business which are managed together, after taking into account relevant investment return. 

Investment return 

Investment return comprises all investment income, realised investment gains and losses and movements in unrealised gains and 

losses, net of investment expenses, charges and interest. Both realised investment gains and losses are included as part of 

investment return in the profit and loss account.  Dividends receivable are accounted for by reference to the date on which the 

price of the investment is quoted ex-dividend.  Interest and expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

Realised gains and losses on investments carried at bid value are calculated as the difference between net sale proceeds and 

purchase price.  Movements in unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the valuation at the 

balance sheet date and their purchase price or, if they have previously been revalued, their valuation at the last balance sheet date,  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES – continued 

together with the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in respect of investment disposals 

in the current period. 

Investment return is initially recorded in the non-technical account.  A transfer is made from the non-technical account to the 

general business technical account to reflect the investment return on funds supporting underwriting business.  Other than 

investment return on Funds at Lloyd’s retained within the syndicate, all investment return has been wholly allocated to the 

technical account. 

Investments 

Investments in marketable securities are stated at bid value on the balance sheet date.  For quoted investments where there is an 

active market, this is their quoted bid price at the balance sheet date.  For quoted and non-quoted investments where there is no 

active market, the bid value is determined by reference to prices for similar assets in active markets.  

Overseas deposits are stated at cost or market value, as notified by Lloyd’s. 

Investments – fair value through profit and loss 

A financial asset is classified into this category at inception if they are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 

term, if they form part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit-taking, or if so designated 

to minimise any measurement or recognition inconsistency with the associated liabilities. 

Financial assets designated as fair value through profit and loss are initially recognised at fair value with any transaction costs 

being expensed through the profit and loss account. For quoted investments where there is an active market, the fair value is their 

quoted bid price at the balance sheet date. For quoted investments where there is no active market, the fair value is determined 

by reference to prices for similar assets in active markets. 

Insurance and other receivables 

Insurance and other receivables are recognised at fair value less any provision for impairment. Any impairment of a receivable 

will be recognised if there is evidence that the company will not be able to collect the amounts receivable according to the original 

terms of the receivable. 

Insurance and other payables 

Payables arising from insurance contracts, creditors and deposits received from reinsurers, are initially measured at cost, which 

is equal to fair value, net of transaction costs. Insurance payables are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is settled, 

cancelled or expired. 

Taxation 

Under Schedule 19 of the Finance Act 1993 managing agents are not required to deduct basic rate income tax from trading income. 

In addition, all UK basic rate income tax deducted from syndicate investment income is recoverable by managing agents and 

consequently the distribution made to members is gross of tax. Capital appreciation falls within trading income and is also 

distributed gross of tax. 

A provision has been made for overseas taxes payable (United States Federal Income Tax, Canadian Federal Income Tax, Japanese 

Income Tax) on underwriting results or investment earnings.  Any payments on account during the year,  made by the syndicate 

on behalf of its corporate member have been set off against members’ balances in the balance sheet. 

Foreign currencies 

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for, in functional currency, at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, from translating such transactions into the  
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2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES – continued 

functional currency of the syndicate, and from the revaluation to year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities, are 

recognised in the profit and loss account. 

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. For this purpose all assets and liabilities 

arising from insurance contracts (including unearned premiums, deferred acquisition costs and unexpired risks provisions) are 

monetary items. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate when fair value was determined.  

Results recorded in their functional currency, are translated into sterling at average rates of exchange for the year while assets and 

liabilities are translated to sterling at year end exchange rates. Differences arising on translation are recorded in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

Profit commission 

Profit commission is chargeable by the managing agent at a rate of 15% of the year of account profit, subject to the operation of a 

deficit clause.  This does not become payable until after the appropriate year of account closes, normally at 36 months.   

The managing agent has waived its right to the receipt of profit commission for the 2018 and 2019 years of account.  It is currently 

anticipated that the profit commission will also be waived for the 2020 and 2021 years of account. 

Reinsurance to close (“RITC”) received from a third party syndicate 

When the syndicate accepts a RITC premium from another syndicate it records all of the assets and liabilities transferred from the 

other syndicate on the balance sheet at fair value on the date the RITC agreement is effective. Any unearned gross and reinsurance 

premiums included with the RITC transaction are recorded in the income statement on the date of the RITC agreement is effective 

and immediately deferred as movements in gross and reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums and are subsequently earned over 

the remaining life of the relevant contracts. The RITC transaction has no impact on the syndicate’s profit or net assets at the time 

that it is first recorded. 

3.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Capital management 

CUAL assesses the capital needs for Syndicate 2488 and maintains an efficient capital structure consistent with its risk profile and 

business requirements and to meet regulatory requirements. The company then seeks to maintain financial strength and capital 

adequacy to support business growth and meet the requirements of policyholders, rating agencies and regulators, whilst retaining 

financial flexibility by ensuring substantial levels of liquidity. Once the capital needs have been met, it is the policy of the company 

to distribute any surplus capital through dividends to its ultimate parent company. 

From a prudential perspective, the Lloyd’s market is regulated by the PRA and is subject to insurance solvency regulations which 

specify the minimum amount and type of capital that must be held. In line with regulatory requirements CUAL managed its capital 

levels in 2021 in the context of Solvency II and the Funds at Lloyd’s requirement. 

Syndicate 2488’s regulatory capital requirement is set according to the Solvency II Internal Model. The company performs tests 

and controls to ensure continuous and full compliance with the Solvency II regulations. 

The primary objectives of the company in managing capital can be summarised as follows: 

• to satisfy the requirements of its policyholders, regulators and rating agencies; 

• to match the profile of its assets and liabilities, taking account of the risks inherent in the business; 

• to manage exposures to key risks; and 

• to retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity. 
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3.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 

Insurance risk 

Insurance risk arises from underwriting activities both prospective and retrospective. Key risks include unexpected losses arising 

from inaccurate pricing, fluctuations in the timing, frequency and/or severity of claims compared to expectations, inadequate 

reinsurance protection and inadequate reserving. The syndicate mitigates the risk of inaccurate pricing by maintaining 

underwriting discipline throughout its operations with the use of underwriting guidelines, technical expertise and appropriate 

authority limits which are monitored through price monitoring procedures, an established peer review process and exception 

monitoring. These guidelines are updated regularly to reflect developments in the nature of the insurance risks being 

underwritten.  

The syndicate’s exposures are continually monitored and the catastrophe management function, independent of underwriting 

management, has responsibility to model aggregate risk and assists with the pricing of risk, providing a key control to the 

underwriting process.  

The syndicate also uses reinsurance to help mitigate insurance risk by providing coverage against and limiting large individual or 

aggregated losses. However, the use of reinsurance provides additional risk where reinsurance may transpire to be inadequate in 

coverage or recoveries cannot be collected due to reinsurer default.  

The reserving process is owned by the Actuarial Function and includes: coordinating the calculation of technical provisions; 

selecting appropriate methods and assumptions for each element of the reserve calculation; ensuring the appropriateness of the 

methodologies and underlying models used as well as the assumptions made in the calculation of the technical provisions; 

assessing the sufficiency and quality of the data used in the calculation of the technical provisions; comparing best estimate against 

experience; reviewing sufficiency of reserves; monitoring of large losses; forecasting and planning; regular deep dives; calculation 

of a range of reasonable estimates; arranging appropriately independent external review and peer review of assumptions and 

calculations.  Challenge and oversight is provided by the Reserve Committee. The Responsibilities of this committee include 

monitoring the risk appetite statements related to reserve risk. CUAL’s independent non-executive directors attend the Reserve 

Committee meetings. 

Sensitivity to insurance risk 

As highlighted in note 2, there is inherent uncertainty in the ultimate cost of claims for which the company uses a variety of 

different actuarial techniques to estimate the provision for claims outstanding.  If the net claims ratio for the year had been higher 

by 1%, then the profit for the financial year would have been lower by £4.5 million (2020: £3.9 million) and members’ balances 

would have been lower by £4.5 million (2020: £3.9 million).  If the net claims ratio had been lower by 1%, then the profit for the 

financial year would have been higher by £4.5 million (2020: £3.9 million) and members’ balances would have been higher by 

£4.5 million (2019: £3.9 million). 

Concentrations of insurance risk 

As shown in note 4, the syndicate writes a diverse book of business across a number of underwriting classes. Approximately 77% 

of the gross written premiums for 2021 (2020: approximately 77%) related to property and casualty line of insurance, with the 

remainder split across a number of other classes.  

Geographically, 51% (2020: 57%) of gross premiums written in 2021 relate to risks within the United States of America, with the 

remainder being spread across Europe, Asia Pacific, Latin America, Africa and the Middle East. 

Financial risk management objectives 

The syndicate is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets and financial liabilities. The most important 

components of this financial risk are market risk (including interest rate risk and currency risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. 
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3.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 

These financial risks principally arise from the investment activity of the business and consequent holdings in fixed income 

investments, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements. The underwriting activity of the business also 

generates financial risk, particularly in the form of currency risk as well as liquidity and credit risk through its insurance and 

reinsurance receivables and payables. The notes below explain how financial risks are managed. The processes used to manage 

these risks are unchanged from previous periods, and cover areas such as investment activity through stochastic modelling of the 

portfolio, within its internal capital model and consequent capital requirements. 

Investment activity governance 

The managing agent operates an Investment Committee which functions under terms of reference determined by the Board.  The 

Committee is charged with establishing and effecting an appropriate investment policy for the syndicate having regard to the 

financial risk appetite of the syndicate. In addition, the Committee has the responsibility for recommending the appointment and 

removal of investment managers, for reviewing the managers’ performance and for reporting on all other material aspects of the 

investment function. 

The Investment Committee comprises senior Chubb management along with representatives from Chubb Asset Management, the 

group’s investment specialists who provide advisory services to Chubb group companies and is chaired by Miriam Connole. 

The investment management function is outsourced to specialist external managers. 

Asset allocation policy 

The Investment Committee has established an asset allocation policy which defines the limits for different asset types. The broad 

asset allocation policy cites two major asset classes: investment grade fixed income securities and alternative assets. The policy 

includes limits within the alternative assets for high yield, emerging market debt, illiquid loans and equities.  The policy stipulates 

a target range of between 70% and 100% for investment grade fixed income securities and a range of between 0% and 30% for 

alternative asset classes.   At the end of 2021 the total allocation to alternative assets was approximately 28% (2020: 26%) and is 

monitored by the Investment Committee.  

Investment guidelines 

Investment management agreements have been established with the external investment managers. The agreements include 

specific guidelines for each individual portfolio in order to limit risks arising from duration, currency, liquidity, credit and 

counterparty exposures. The managers provide quarterly affirmation of compliance with these guidelines. 

Interest rate risk 

The syndicate is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its investments in fixed interest securities and, to the extent that 

claims inflation is correlated to interest rates, its liabilities to policyholders. Interest rate risk arises in the fixed income investment 

portfolio primarily through instrument duration. Accordingly, the investment guidelines include restrictions relating to the 

maximum weighted average duration of the portfolio. The restriction is stated by reference to the permissible duration variance 

compared to the customised benchmark index by which the external investment managers’ performance is assessed. 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk illustrates how changes in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates at the reporting date.   To illustrate the downside risk within the fixed interest 

portfolio of £1,140.8 million at external managers as at 31 December 2021 (2020: £1,121.1 million), the impact of an increase of 

50 basis points in interest yields across all portfolios consecutively (principally sterling, euros and US dollars) has been calculated. 

Such an increase would decrease the market value of the investment portfolio and lead to a decrease in the total investment return 

of £27.3 million (2020: £22.0 million) and accordingly decrease total shareholders’ funds by £27.3 million (2020: £22.0 million). 
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3.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 

Equity price risk 

The syndicate held £105.3 million of equities in 2021 (2020: £87.5 million) and as a result the syndicate is exposed to changes 

in the level and volatility of equity prices. To illustrate the downside risk within the equity portfolio, the impact of a 5% 

decrease in stock market prices has been calculated. Such a decrease would decrease the market value of the equity portfolio and 

lead to a decrease in the total investment return of £4.9 million (2020: £4.0 million) and accordingly decrease total shareholders’ 

funds by £4.9 million (2020: £4.0 million).  

Currency risk  

The syndicate is primarily exposed to currency risk in respect of assets and liabilities under policies of insurance denominated in 

currencies other than sterling. The syndicate maintains various currency balances generated through regular business activity but 

the majority of the funds held are denominated in sterling, euros, Canadian dollars and US dollars. The syndicate’s policy seeks to 

ensure that an approximate currency match of assets and liabilities is maintained, with the bulk of surplus funds held in Canadian 

dollars and US dollars. 

Any component of the members' funds denominated in currencies other than sterling gives rise to currency risk due to exchange 

rate volatility relative to sterling. 

The accounting policy for foreign currencies is stated in note 2 to the financial statements. 

For the profit and loss account, the 2021 average US dollar/sterling rate of US$1.380/£1 is up 7.4% on the prior period (2020: 

US$1.285/£1). Had the average sterling rate weakened against the US dollar by 10% compared to the actual 2021 average and all 

other variables remained constant, the profit for the year would have been £6.5 million more than the amount reported (2020: 

£9.8 million more). 

For the monetary components of the balance sheet, the year-end rates used to convert US dollar to sterling has decreased 1.4% to 

US$1.322/£1 (2020: US$1.340/£1). Assuming sterling had weakened by 10% against the US dollar and all other variables 

remained constant, the effect of translating year-end net assets based on these parameters would have resulted in an increase in 

members’ balances of £74.0 million, which would have appeared as a gain in the statement of comprehensive income (2020: £70.2 

million gain).  

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the syndicate is unable to meet its obligations as they fall due.  To counter this risk, the syndicate 

aims to maintain funds in the form of cash or cash equivalents to meet known cash flows.  In addition, the asset allocation policy 

and the investment guidelines are structured in order to ensure that funds are predominantly held in investment grade fixed 

income securities, the proceeds of which are readily realisable. 

However, a significant share of the syndicate’s investments is held to meet regulatory deposit requirements which may not be 

available to meet recommended liquidity needs.  

Syndicate 2488 participates in a notional pooling programme with other Chubb group companies under a facility operated by 

Bank Mendes Gans, a subsidiary of ING, which specialises in global liquidity management.  The facility operates by the notional 

pooling of designated balances of the Chubb group participants in order to provide additional liquidity.  Chubb group participants 

may overdraw individual account balances to fund immediate short term needs against credit balances held elsewhere within the 

pool. On this basis, CUAL maintained an overdraft of £130.3 million at year end (2020: £101.4 million) and credit balances of 

£167.2 million (2020: £96.3 million) in designated accounts. 

The syndicate also benefits from letter of credit facilities which can be utilised to meet certain funding needs and notional pooling 

facilities with other Chubb group companies which serve to provide additional liquidity. 

 

 



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
 

Syndicate 2488 37 
 

3.          CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 

As indicated in the balance sheet, the syndicate’s financial liabilities are all payable within one year. Non-derivative financial 

liabilities with contractual maturities are paid within agreed terms of trade. Non-derivative financial liabilities with contractual 

maturities are limited to reinsurance premiums payable and expense accruals.  

£000 

31 December 2021 

No Stated 

Maturity 
0-1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years >5 years Total 

Deposits received from 

reinsurers 

- - - - - - 

Claims outstanding - 361,373 345,575 165,375 194,316 1,066,639 

Creditors - 215,133 - - - 215,133 

Total - 576,506 345,575 165,375 194,316 1,281,772 

       

£000 

31 December 2020 

No Stated 

Maturity 
0-1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years >5 years Total 

Deposits received from 

reinsurers 

- - - - - - 

Claims outstanding - 350,299 358,148 161,122 174,923 1,044,492 

Creditors - 191,087 - - - 191,087 

Total - 541,386 358,148 161,122 174,923 1,235,579 

 
 
 
Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due.  The syndicate is exposed to credit risk 

through its investment activity and its insurance operations. 

The syndicate is exposed to investment credit and price risk as a result of its holdings in fixed income. The risk in respect of fixed 

income investments is moderated by the application of detailed investment guidelines which limit the size of holdings with 

individual issuers, restrict duration and dictate minimum credit quality, both for individual holdings and for the aggregate 

weighted portfolio. 

The average credit quality of investment portfolios remained high throughout the year and at year end was “A” (2020: “A”). 

The investment guidelines seek to limit the credit risk of each of the portfolios through specifying eligible/ineligible investments, 

setting maximum counterparty exposures and minimum weighted credit quality and individual issuer credit quality. 

Credit risk – insurance operations 

The syndicate is exposed to credit risk as a result of its regular insurance and reinsurance activity.   The areas of key exposure are: 

• reinsurers’ share of provision for claims outstanding; 

• debtors arising from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid; 

• amounts due from direct insurance and reinsurance policyholders; and 

• amounts due from direct insurance and reinsurance intermediaries. 

Ceded reinsurance is used to manage and mitigate inwards direct insurance and reinsurance risk.  Ceded reinsurance does not 

discharge the syndicate’s liability as primary insurer.  If a ceded reinsurer fails to pay a claim, the syndicate remains liable for the 

payment to the policyholder. A Reinsurance Security Committee is operated by the Chubb group which analyses the 

creditworthiness of ceded reinsurers on a quarterly basis by reviewing their financial strength.  In addition, the recent payment 

history of ceded reinsurers is used to update the reinsurance purchasing strategy. 
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3.          CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 

With regard to direct insurance and reinsurance receivables, the syndicate operates a committee to review broker security, a 

process for monitoring arrangements with managing general agents, and, in certain circumstances, the requirement for collateral 

to be posted by the policyholder to the benefit of the syndicate. 

The assets bearing credit risk are summarised below: 

    2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

Other financial investments 1,456,956 1,463,990 

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 341,955 361,932 

Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations 74,002 62,115 

Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 62,189 66,848 

 1,935,102 1,954,885 

 

Other financial investments are designated as fair value through the income statement at inception, and their performance 

evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented investment strategy as detailed in note 3.  The Moody’s credit 

rating for other financial investments is detailed below. 

 

The value of £406.2 million that is below BBB or not rated includes the Wellington and Oakhill Equity portfolios both of which 

are not rated and Swiss Overseas deposits. 

Other financial investments are neither past due nor impaired. 

The amount of change, during the period and cumulatively, in the fair value of receivables that is attributed to changes in credit 

risk is represented by a provision for impairment against receivables past due. 

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions includes claims outstanding, related claims handling costs and IBNR. This is described 

along with the valuation methods in note 2. This balance includes 2.0% past due that have been impaired (2020: 1.9%). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

AAA 143,286 151,742 

AA 409,068 476,551 

A 298,372 253,218 

BBB 200,040 176,860 

Below BBB or not rated 406,190 405,619 

 1,456,956 1,463,990 
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3. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 

Debtors arising out of direct and reinsurance operations are held at fair value less any provision for impairment as described in 

note 2. Debtors arising out of direct and reinsurance operations include: 

 

 

The Standard & Poor’s credit rating for reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding and debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 

that are neither past due nor impaired are detailed below. 

 

 

 2021 2020 

Impaired 0.0% 0.0% 

   

Past due but not impaired:   

0 to 6 months past due 21.2% 15.7% 

6 to 12 months past due 2.6% 3.7% 

Over 12 months past due 5.5% 3.9% 

Total past due but not impaired 29.3% 23.3% 

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

AA 187,438 209,751 

A 109,567 109,010 

BBB 306 1,899 

Below BBB 12 24 

Not rated 3,291 9,361 

 300,614 330,045 
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4. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS  

Segmental information in the format required by Schedule 3 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 

and Reports) Regulations 2008, as amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors 2017 (“the Regulations”), is 

as presented below. In 2021 and going forward underwriting results for the policies transferred to Lloyd’s as part of the Part VII 

transaction described in the Managing Agent’s Report are reported under the Reinsurance Acceptances class of business, reflecting 

the new contractual arrangement with Lloyd’s Insurance Company S.A.. For 2020 comparatives, as the effective date of the 

transfer was 30 December 2020, and in line with Society of Lloyd’s guidance no movements were processed on these policies on 

31 December 2020 and they continued to be reported as they were prior to the Part VII transfer. 

 

 

 
 

The reinsurance balance represents the credit/(charge) to the technical account from the aggregate of all items relating to outwards 

reinsurance.  All business is completed in the United Kingdom. 

 
 

  

 

 

 

Year to 31 December 2021 

Gross 
premiums 

written 

£000 

Gross 
premiums 

earned 

£000 

Gross 
Claims 

Incurred 
£000 

Gross 
Operating 
Expenses 

£000 

Reinsurance 
balance 

 

£000 

      

Direct Insurance      

   Fire and other damage to property  183,036 176,911 (112,771) (62,452) 20,157 

   Marine, aviation and transport 91,584 89,048 (40,900) (29,905) (3,477) 

   Accident and health 74 74 (703) (233) 732 

   Third party liability  159,902 148,843 (105,820) (45,562) (8,368) 

    Miscellaneous 8,202 8,257 (131) (3,257) (1,883) 

   Reinsurance acceptances 118,499 117,151 (51,501) (21,964) (22,302) 

      

   TOTAL 561,297 540,284 (311,826) (163,373) (15,141) 

 

 

 

Year to 31 December 2020 

Gross 
premiums 

written 

£000 

Gross 
premiums 

earned 

£000 

Gross 
Claims 

Incurred 
£000 

Gross 
Operating 
Expenses 

£000 

Reinsurance 
balance 

 

£000 

      

Direct Insurance      

   Fire and other damage to property  179,070 174,764 (145,497) (59,660) 17,760 

   Marine, aviation and transport 88,029 76,210 (48,435) (23,038) (361) 

   Accident and health (936) (930) 658 1,024 42 

   Third party liability  139,396 125,724 (101,622) (31,095) 23,031 

    Miscellaneous 7,186 9,816 (6,767) (5,476) 2,712 

   Reinsurance acceptances 115,507 113,555 (82,519) (22,308) (8,275) 

      

   TOTAL 528,252 499,139 (384,182) (140,553) 34,909 
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4. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS – continued 

Gross written premium information by destination (location of risk) as required by Schedule 1, Regulations 2015 (Part V, 84) is as 

follows: 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

United Kingdom 78,320  48,739 

United States of America 288,711  302,202 

Continental Europe 34,713  44,406 

Africa and Middle East 16,134  18,574 

Asia Pacific 32,411  32,714 

Americas 111,008  81,617 

 561,297  528,252 

 

5. MOVEMENT IN PRIOR YEAR’S PROVISION FOR CLAIMS OUTSTANDING 

The prior year’s net provision for claims outstanding generated a surplus for 2021 (2020: surplus) as detailed below: 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Direct insurance    

   Fire and other damage to property 12,564  8,407 

   Marine, aviation and transport 15,528  2,864 

   Accident and health (141)  372 

   Third party liability (23,099)  17,908 

Reinsurance acceptances  1,939  1,943 

 6,791  31,494 
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6. NET OPERATING EXPENSES 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Acquisition costs 138,068  117,795 

Change in deferred acquisition costs (5,869)  (4,324) 

Administrative expenses 31,175  27,084 

Reinsurance commission (18,338)  (15,417) 

 145,036  125,138 

 

“Acquisition costs” includes total commissions for direct business amounting to £112.2 million (2020: £92.1 million). 

“Administrative expenses” covers most expenses generally classified as syndicate expenses, net of an element of those expenses 

which are indirect acquisition costs and therefore included within acquisition costs, Lloyd’s Central Fund contributions and 

Lloyd’s subscriptions. 

The managing agent’s fee in 2021 was in line with 2020 (£0.5 million compared with £0.5 million). Most of the services used by 

the syndicate (including staff costs, accommodation, IT, professional fees and travel) are provided by Chubb Services UK Limited 

(“CSUK”).  

Auditor’s remuneration 

During the year, the syndicate obtained the following services from the managing agent’s auditors and their associates. 

 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Fees payable to the syndicate’s auditors and their associates for the audit of the    

syndicate’s annual accounts  482  445 

    

Fees payable to the syndicate’s auditors and their associates for other services: 113   

   Audit-related assurance services   106 

 595  551 

 

 “Audit-related assurance services” includes the audit of the syndicate’s regulatory returns. 
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7. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 

Staff costs 

The managing agency has no employees (2020: none). Staff that support the syndicate and managing agency are employed by 

Chubb Services UK Limited (“CSUK”) and/or Chubb European Group SE (“CEGSE”), fellow Chubb group undertakings (together 

the “employing entities”).  

Directors’ emoluments  

All directors of the managing agent received emoluments from the employing entities in respect of their services to the syndicate 

and Chubb group companies. The cost of these emoluments is included in a fee reimbursed directly to the employing entities by 

the syndicate. It is not practical to allocate these amounts to the underlying entities to which the directors provide services. 

Consequently, the following amounts represent the total emoluments paid by the employing entities in respect of the directors of 

the managing agent for the period during the year in which they served as directors. 

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

   

Aggregate emoluments and benefits 2,380 2,235 

Company pension contributions to money purchases pension schemes 58 95 

 2,438 2,330 

Amounts paid by the employing entities in respect of the Active Underwriters and highest paid director are summarised below. 

The amounts paid to the Active Underwriters for 2020 have been restated since the 31 December 2020 financial statements were 

finalised to include all amounts paid to both Active Underwriters who served during the 2020 calendar year. The restatement 

increases the amount paid from £94,988 to £411,372. 

 2021 2020 

(restated) 

 £ £ 

   

Emoluments and benefits paid to the Active Underwriters 695,485 411,372 

Emoluments and benefits paid to the highest paid director 980,834 1,018,176 

   

   

The aggregate emoluments above do not include share-based remuneration. All executive directors of the managing agent are 

entitled to shares in Chubb Limited under long-term incentive plans.  During the year, four directors received shares in Chubb 

Limited under long-term incentive plans and one director exercised options over the shares of Chubb Limited.  The highest paid 

director received shares in Chubb Limited under long-term incentive plans. Disclosures relating to the share-based payments are 

contained within the financial statements of the employing entities.  
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8.   INVESTMENT RETURN 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Investment Income    

  Investment income 34,619  48,514 

  Gains on the realisation of investments 15,465  13,087 

 50,084  61,601 

    

Investment expenses and charges     

 Investment management expenses (1,790)  (2,105) 

 Losses on the realisation of investments (1,952)  (10,840) 

 (3,742)  (12,945) 

    

Net unrealised gains and losses on investments    

 Unrealised gains on investments 27,276  102,136 

 Unrealised losses on investments (56,864)  (74,676) 

 (29,588)  27,460 

    

Total Investment Return  16,754  76,116 

    

Investment return is analysed between: 

 

Allocated investment return transferred to the general 

business technical account 

 

 

 

(10,157) 

  

 

 

36,644 

Net Investment included in the non-technical account 26,911  39,472 

 16,754  76,116 
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9. OTHER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 

 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Market value:    

Shares and other variable yield securities 105,331  87,458 

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities  1,140,833  1,121,210 

Overseas deposits 83,268  111,503 

Deposits with credit institutions 30,435  51,742 

Other Investments 97,089  92,077 

 1,456,956  1,463,990 

Cost:    

Shares and other variable yield securities 87,710  82,207 

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities  1,131,956  1,076,436 

Overseas deposits  83,268  111,503 

Deposits with credit institutions 30,435  51,742 

Other Investments 84,601  84,446 

 1,417,970  1,406,334 

 

The overseas deposits are held under Lloyd’s premium trust deed arrangements where applicable and are administered by Lloyd's. 

The syndicate is required to lodge deposits in various overseas insurance markets as a condition of conducting underwriting 

business in those markets.  All such overseas deposits are calculated in accordance with the relevant territorial authority’s 

requirements, usually by reference to outstanding liabilities derived from business written in those territories.   

£659.5 million (2020: £646.5 million) of the total market value relates to Funds at Lloyd’s, as explained in note 11. This is analysed 

as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Market value:    

Equity Shares 97,795  79,921 

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities  

Deposits with credit institutions 

459,713 

4,937 

 466,386 

8,106 

Other Investments 97,089  92,077 

 659,534  646,490 

Cost:    

Equity Shares 80,173  74,671 

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities  

Deposits with credit institutions 

452,014 

4,937 

 447,839 

8,106 

Other Investments 84,601  84,446 

 621,725  615,062 
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9. OTHER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS - continued 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

FRS 102 requires the syndicate to classify financial instruments into a fair value hierarchy as follows: 

• Level 1 – The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the syndicate can access 

          at the measurement date.       

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market data)  

          for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 – Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability. 

 

An analysis of financial instruments at 31 December 2021 by fair value hierarchy is set out below: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

 £000 £000 £000  £000 

Shares and other variable yield securities 97,795 - 7,537  105,332 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 65,104 1,075,729 -  1,140,833 

Loans and deposits with credit institutions 9,609 20,826 -  30,435 

Overseas deposits 23,667 59,600 -  83,267 

Other Investments - - 97,089  97,089 

Total 196,175 1,156,155 104,626  1,456,956 

 

An analysis of financial instruments at 31 December 2020 by fair value hierarchy is set out below: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

 £000 £000 £000  £000 

Shares and other variable yield securities 79,921 - 7,537  87,458 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 251,869 867,759 1,582  1,121,210 

Loans and deposits with credit institutions 11,739 40,003 -  51,742 

Overseas deposits 53,771 57,732 -  111,503 

Other Investments - - 92,077  92,077 

Total 397,300 965,494 101,196  1,463,990 
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9. OTHER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS - continued 

‘Debt securities and other fixed interest securities’ with active markets such as Government securities are classified within 

Level 1, as fair values are based on quoted market prices.  For debt securities and other fixed interest securities that trade in 

less active markets, including corporate securities, fair values are based on the output of pricing models, the significant inputs 

into which  include, but are not limited to, yield curves, credit risks and spreads, measures of volatility, and prepayment speeds. 

These debt securities and other fixed interest securities are classified within Level 2. For debt securities and other fixed interest 

securities and debt securities and other fixed interest securities for which pricing is unobservable, these are classified within 

Level 3. 

‘Loans and deposits with credit institutions’ include short term investments, such as liquidity funds.  Where such securities 

are traded in active markets, they are classified within Level 1, as fair values are based on quoted market prices.  Where no 

active market exists for such securities they are typically classified within Level 2 and where pricing is unobservable, Level 3. 

For securities in level 3 where pricing is based on unobservable inputs, valuations are sourced from models and / or third 

parties. Any third party models are reviewed and approved by the Chubb Group’s specialist asset management function on a 

quarterly basis. Significant uncertainty would be considered to exist in relation to pricing based on unobservable inputs. 

However, for Syndicate 2488 this uncertainty is considered to be immaterial as the exposure to these types of assets is only a 

small proportion, 7.2%, of the investment portfolio as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 6.9%).  

 

An analysis of movements during the year in Level 3 balances is as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

Balance at 1 January 101,196 72,378 

Gains recognised in profit and loss account 6,004 4,198 

Purchases 0 23,749 

Sales (1,587) (305) 

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 (987) 1,176 

Balance at 31 December 104,626 101,196 
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10. OTHER DEBTORS 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Amounts falling due within one year:    

Amounts due from group companies 2,113  433 

Unsettled investment trades 799  - 

Other debtors 615  14 

 3,527  447 

 

There are no debtors due in greater than 1 year.  

 

11.      MEMBERS’ BALANCES 

Members participate on syndicates by reference to years of account and their ultimate result, assets and liabilities are assessed 

with reference to policies incepting in that year of account in respect of their membership of a particular year. 

Members’ balances are supported by Funds at Lloyd’s (“FAL”), as disclosed in note 14.   

Members’ balances at 31 December 2021 include £647.4 million (2020: £631.6 million) designated as FAL.  

Members’ balances designated as FAL are included in the following asset headings: 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Other financial investments 654,597  638,384 

Deposits with credit institutions 4,936  8,106 

Other prepayment and accrued income (12,107)  (14,868) 

Total assets designated as Funds at Lloyd’s 647,426  631,622 

 

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

An analysis of cash and cash equivalents is as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

Cash at bank and in hand 177,947  106,581 

Short-term deposits with credit institutions  30,435  51,742 

Overdrafts (130,296)  (101,429) 

 78,086  56,894 

 

Short-term deposits with credit institutions include deposits held at call with banks and other short term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Such investments are those 

with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, or which are redeemable on demand with only an insignificant 

change in their fair values.  
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13. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The ultimate holding company of the syndicate’s managing agent, Chubb Underwriting Agencies Limited (“CUAL”), is Chubb 

Limited, a company which is registered in Zurich, Switzerland and quoted on the New York Stock Exchange.   

Copies of the ultimate holding company's consolidated accounts can be obtained from Investor Relations at Chubb's executive 

offices at 1133 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036. 

The principal related reinsurance partner of the syndicate is Chubb Tempest Re, a leading global multi-line reinsurer that is part 

of the Chubb group. The syndicate may have reinsured, or have been reinsured by, insurance companies in which Chubb Limited 

has interests and of which it and certain of its subsidiaries are controllers. 

During calendar year 2021, a number of outwards reinsurance contracts were effected with group companies.  The main excess of 

loss reinsurance programmes in operation during 2021 were shared with other Chubb companies, including Chubb European 

Group SE.  

The following is a summary of the reinsurance transactions and balances with related parties in 2021 and as at 31 December 2021:  

 

Reinsurance Premium Related Chubb 

Tempest 

Reinsurance 

Chubb 

European 

Group SE 

Chubb 

America 

Other Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Reinsurance Premiums 17.1 0.2 - 0.3 17.6 

Reinsurance Commissions 2.0 - - - 2.0 

Reinsurers’ share of Unearned 

Premium Reserve  

9.4 0.4 - 0.1 9.9 

Reinsurance Creditor 0.8 0.2 0.2 0.3 1.5 

 

Reinsurance Recovery Related  Chubb 

Tempest 

Reinsurance 

Chubb 

European 

Group SE 

Chubb 

America 

Other Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Change in reinsurers’ share of Claims 

Incurred 

12.6 1.0 (0.4) (0.1) 13.1 

Balance of reinsurers’ share of 

Claims Outstanding 

75.1 4.4 8.5 0.9 88.9 

Reinsurance Debtor 3.2 0.1 0.7 5.1 9.1 

 

The syndicate’s capacity for all years of account since 2018 is provided entirely by Chubb Capital I Limited, which is a corporate 

member of Lloyd’s, participating only on Syndicate 2488. Chubb Capital I Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary within the Chubb 

group. 

Managing agency fees of £0.6 million (2020: £0.5 million) were paid by the syndicate to CUAL. Staff providing services to CUAL 

and the syndicate are employed by Chubb Services UK Limited (“CSUK”), another Chubb Limited company. CSUK settles expenses 

on behalf of, and provides services to, the syndicate and CUAL. During 2021 the syndicate incurred expenses of £32.7 million 

(2020: £ 33.5 million) from CSUK and had an outstanding balance with CSUK of £6.2 million payable as at 31 December 2021 

(2020: £12.1 million due). 
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14.  FUNDS AT LLOYD’S 

Every member is required to hold capital at Lloyd’s which is held in trust and known as Funds at Lloyd’s (“FAL”).  These funds are 

intended primarily to cover circumstances where syndicate assets prove insufficient to meet participating members’ underwriting 

liabilities and can therefore be considered as the capital supporting the operations of the syndicate. 

The level of FAL that Lloyd’s requires a member to maintain is determined by Lloyd’s based on Prudential Regulatory Authority 

(“PRA”) requirements and resource criteria.  FAL has regard to a number of factors including the nature and amount of risk to be 

underwritten by the member and assessment of the reserving risk in respect of business that has been underwritten.  The 

syndicate’s members have met their FAL requirements by the retention of closed year of account profits in the syndicate. At 31 

December 2021 FAL totaled £647.4 million (2020: £631.6 million). 
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15.      CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT TABLES 

The following tables show the development of claims over a period of time on both a gross and net of reinsurance basis. FRS 103 requires that claims development shall go back to 

the period when the earliest claim arose for which there is still uncertainty about the amount and timing of the claims payment but need not go back more than 10 years. The top half 

of the table shows how the estimates of total claims for each underwriting year develop over time. The lower half of the table reconciles the cumulative claims to the amount appearing 

in the balance sheet.   

The cumulative claims estimates and payments for each underwriting year are translated into sterling at the current year-end rates.  

Claims development as at 31 December 2021 – Gross  

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Estimate of ultimates:            

End of underwriting year 178,399 129,944 129,473 142,920 132,102 148,457 101,636 95,818 170,648 139,736 1,369,133 

One Year Later 334,830 304,837 293,291 303,390 318,289 301,874 267,674 283,855 310,563 - 2,718,603 

Two Years Later 332,504 310,723 292,700 330,209 329,982 335,105 289,162 296,843 - - 2,517,228 

Three Years Later 308,200 303,833 291,115 316,151 329,519 332,482 301,047 - - - 2,182,347 

Four Years Later 304,027 279,228 289,667 298,036 335,290 336,870 - - - - 1,843,118 

Five Years Later 293,295 262,538 289,554 296,274 334,300 - - - - - 1,475,961 

Six Years Later 293,649 261,566 289,611 298,233 - - - - - - 1,143,059 

Seven Years Later 296,753 260,678 285,727 - - - - - - - 843,158 

Eight Years Later 295,266 263,415 - - - - - - - - 558,681 

Nine Years Later 305,961 - - - - - - - - - 305,961 

Current estimate of ultimate claims 305,961 263,415 285,727 298,233 334,300 336,870 301,047 296,843 310,563 139,736 2,872,695 

Cumulative payments (269,491) (238,247) (249,628) (238,428) (251,732) (274,751) (202,219) (150,548) (100,941) (31,219) (2,007,204) 

In balance sheet 36,470 25,168 36,099 59,805 82,568 62,119 98,828 146,295 209,622 108,517 865,491 

            

Provision for prior financial years           201,148 

Liability in the balance sheet           1,066,639 
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15.      CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT TABLES- continued 

Claims development as at 31 December 2021 – Net  

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Estimate of ultimates:            

End of underwriting year 130,648 102,308 104,131 113,044 103,148 103,485 80,013 76,923 118,945 116,856 1,049,501 

One Year Later 256,508 240,286 242,912 241,621 249,187 238,180 207,380 227,331 236,426 0 2,139,831 

Two Years Later 255,729 243,435 248,044 268,211 268,843 261,389 220,176 231,511 0 0 1,997,338 

Three Years Later 255,114 242,261 255,117 259,192 261,402 258,308 223,805 0 0 0 1,755,199 

Four Years Later 252,274 227,233 253,157 245,725 255,012 259,880 0 0 0 0 1,493,281 

Five Years Later 246,482 213,836 249,466 244,458 250,945 0 0 0 0 0 1,205,187 

Six Years Later 247,521 210,515 249,174 246,401 0 0 0 0 0 0 953,611 

Seven Years Later 252,225 209,492 244,470 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 706,187 

Eight Years Later 248,928 213,555 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 462,483 

Nine Years Later 256,731 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 256,731 

Current estimate of ultimate claims 256,731 213,555 244,470 246,401 250,945 259,880 223,805 231,511 236,426 116,856 2,280,580 

Cumulative payments (225,139) (195,740) (219,119) (201,624) (207,986) (211,071) (154,740) (114,974) (79,990) (30,418) (1,640,801) 

In balance sheet 31,592 17,815 25,351 44,777 42,959 48,809 69,065 116,537 156,436 86,438 639,779 

            

Provision for prior financial years           141,234  

Liability in the balance sheet           781,013 
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16.  RECONCILIATION OF INSURANCE BALANCES 

The reconciliation of opening and closing deferred acquisition costs is as follows: 

 2021  2020 

 £000  £000 

    

At 1 January 55,169  51,648 

Change in acquisition costs deferred during the year 5,869  4,324 

Foreign exchange movement 1,396  (803) 

At 31 December  62,434  55,169 

 

 

The reconciliation of opening and closing unearned premium provision is as follows: 

 
Gross 

 
Reinsurers’ share 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

At 1 January 245,182  220,297  54,225  55,524 

Increase in provision 21,013  29,114  1,056  240 

Foreign exchange movements 4,725  (4,229)  1,048  (1,539) 

At 31 December 270,920  245,182  56,329  54,225 

 

 

The reconciliation of opening and closing provision for claims is as follows: 

 
Gross 

 
Reinsurers’ share 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

At 1 January 1,044,492  964,380  307,707  243,683 

Increase/(Decrease) in provision 16,351  83,065  (24,781)  67,773 

Foreign exchange movements 5,796  (2,952)  2,700  (3,749) 

At 31 December 1,066,639  1,044,492  285,626  307,707 

 

17. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 

The managing agent’s immediate holding company is Chubb Leadenhall Limited.  The managing agent’s ultimate holding 

company is Chubb Limited, a company which is registered in Zurich, Switzerland and quoted on the New York Stock Exchange.  

Copies of the ultimate holding company's consolidated accounts can be obtained from Investor Relations at Chubb's executive 

offices at 1133 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036. 
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18. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Russia / Ukraine conflict 

On 24 February 2022 Russia invaded Ukraine. The invasion has been met with Ukrainian resistance and has created significant 

geopolitical instability between the USA, UK, Europe and Russia. The USA, UK and Europe have implemented a significant 

number of economic and political sanctions on Russian individuals, corporations and the wider Russian financial system. The 

directors of CUAL have considered the information available to them and the impacts of the conflict on the syndicate concluding 

that, an estimate of the impact cannot be made as at the date on which these financial statements are signed, however the syndicate 

remains in a strong position to respond to the impacts of the conflict. Furthermore, the directors do not believe that any impacts 

from the conflict change the financial position presented for the syndicate as at 31 December 2021. CUAL will continue to monitor 

the situation and provide updates to stakeholders as and when required.  

 


